
 

01260539;1 1 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING  

BRUSH COUNTRY GROUNDWATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

By virtual means and at the 

Brush Country GCD Building 

732 West Rice 

Falfurrias, Texas 

Tuesday, August 25, 2020 at 9:30 am 

Public Meeting Agenda 

 

An urgent public necessity exists requiring the Brush Country Groundwater Conservation 

District (District) to alter its meeting procedures due to COVID-19 pandemic. Notice is hereby 

given that a meeting of the Board of Directors (Board) of the District will be held Tuesday, 

August 25, 2020 at 9:30 a.m.  in the District Office, 732 West Rice St., Falfurrias, Texas. A 

quorum of the Board may be present in person at the physical location or may participate via 

audio and video conference call. Likewise, members of the public may participate in person at 

the physical location or via audio or videoconference call. The meeting will be conducted 

pursuant to Texas Government Code, Sections 551.125, 551.127 and 551.131, and as modified 

by the Governor of Texas who ordered suspension of various provisions of the Open Meetings 

Act, Chapter 551, Government Code, effective March 16, 2020, in accordance with the Texas 

Disaster Act of 1975 (see the Governor's proclamation on March 13, 2020 as renewed, 

certifying that the COVID-19 pandemic poses an imminent threat of disaster and declaring a 

state of disaster for all counties in Texas). The audio and videoconference information for the 

Board and public to participate in the meeting described below follows the Governor’s 

guidance for conducting a public meeting and ensures public accessibility. The Board and 

members of the public not attending in person may call in or participate via videoconference as 

follows:  

 

Please join my meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone.  

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/812600253  

You can also dial in using your phone.  
(For supported devices, tap a one-touch number below to join instantly.)  

United States: +1 (786) 535-3211  
- One-touch: tel:+17865353211,,812600253#  

Access Code: 812-600-253  

This meeting will be recorded and the recording will be available on the District’s website 

www.brushcountrygcd.com after the meeting. A copy of the agenda packet for this meeting will 

be available on the District’s website www.brushcountrygcd.com at the time of the meeting. 

 

 

1. Call to order, declare meeting open to the public, and take roll. 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/812600253
tel:+17865353211,,812600253
http://www.brushcountrygcd.com/
http://www.brushcountrygcd.com/


 

01260539;1 2 

 

 

3. Public Comment 

 

4. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on Minutes of the Regular Meeting on July 28, 2020.  

                                                                                                                                                

5. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on General Manager’s Report:                                           

 a. Report on KCGCD August19,2020 & DCGCD August, 2020   

b. Tuned in to Texas Water Development Board (TWDB) hearing August 5,2020 

related to HB722 Brackish Groundwater Production Zones- Key points added two 

new definitions “brackish groundwater production zone operating permit “and 

“designated brackish groundwater production zone”,  On the applications for 

brackish production zones, the TWDB will do the technical reviews to make sure 

that safeguards are in place to make sure that there is no negative impacts on 

aquifer levels, water quality and subsidence.   

c.  Region N Robstown via teleconference September 3, 2020 @ 1:30 pm.  

d. Region M Regional Water Planning via teleconference September 16, 2020 

@10:30 

e. General manager and general manager trainee worked on 2020 BCGCD water 

level monitoring. 

f. Submitted 2nd Quarter 941 report for Employer’s Quarterly Federal Tax Return  

g. Well registrations were 8, in August and we have 11 pending, well plugging 0, 

pending 2.  Total of 3,417 wells registered. 

h. Update on recent case law affecting GCD’s. 

 

6. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on request of withdrawal of the Jose Ricardo 

Gonzalez’s production permit application.  

 

7. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on $3,000 payment of Aqua Veo Hosting of BCGCD 

Water Well Database for period of August 2020 through February 2021. 

 

8.  Discuss, consider, and review and act proposed 2020 BCGCD No New Tax Rate and 

2020 Voter-Approval Tax Rate and approve publishing of public notice in local 

newspapers and/or mailing notice.  Select date for adopting 2020 local tax rate by 

resolution. 

 

9. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on appointing general manager trainee Luis Pena as 

BCGCD’s new investment officer. 

   

10. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on 3rd quarter investment report. 

 

11. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on July 2020 monthly financial statement. 

    

12. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on legislative report from Robert Howard. 

   

13. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on correspondence received: 

 a. Alta Mesa LLC submitted an application to the Texas Commission on Environmental 

Quality (TCEQ) dated July 13,2020 for permit renewals for the continued operation of 

underground injection wells for disposal of noncommercial nonhazardous waste. 

 



 

01260539;1 3 

 

 b. Notice of the intention of Jim Hogg County, Texas to designate a reinvestment zone as 

part of Barranca Wind Energy, LLC for a tax abatement pursuant to Chapter 312 of the 

Texas Tax Code. 

 

 c.  Attorney General Notification of Opinion:  KP-0326 (appointed board members not 

required to have cybersecurity training) 

 

 d.  San Diego Municipal Utility District submitted an application to the Texas 

Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) dated July 30,2020 for a water quality 

permit renewal. 

  

14. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on new business and select date for next meeting. 

 

15. Adjourn. 

                                        

 

The above agenda schedule represents an estimate of the order for the indicated items and is subject 

to change at any time.  These public meetings are available to all persons regardless of disability.  

If you require special assistance to attend the meeting, please call (361) 325 5093 at least 24 hours 

in advance of the meeting to coordinate any special physical access arrangements. At any time 

during the meeting and in compliance with the Texas Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551, 

Government Code, Vernon’s Texas Codes, Annotated, the Brush Country Groundwater 

Conservation District Board may meet in executive session on any of the above agenda items or 

other lawful items for consultation concerning attorney-client matters (§ 551.071); deliberation 

regarding real property (§ 551.072); deliberation regarding prospective gift (§ 551.073); personnel 

matters (§ 551.074); and deliberation regarding security devices (§ 551.076).  Any subject 

discussed in executive session may be subject to action during an open meeting 



01267796;1 4 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 

OF 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS   § 

      § 

BRUSH COUNTRY GROUNDWATER § 

CONSERVATION DISTRICT  § 

 

 

The Board of Directors of Brush County Groundwater Conservation District (the 

“District”) met in special session, open to the public, on July 28, 2020 at the Brush Country 

Groundwater Building 732 W. Rice Falfurrias, Texas, in accordance with the duly posted notice 

of said meeting.    

 

1. The meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m. and the roll was called of the members of 

the Board of Directors.  Eight Board members were present at the meeting: 

 David Kelly in person 

 Bill Botard virtual 

 Mario Martinez virtual 

 Robert Scott in person 

 William P. Goranson virtual 

 A.C. Jones IV virtual  

 Jesse Howell virtual 

 Mauro Garcia virtual  

This month’s meeting was conducted via Telephone & Videoconference due to Covid-19 

pandemic. Eight Board members were present thus constituting a quorum for agenda 

items where action was taken by the Board, all Directors present voted. BCGCD General 

Manager Felix Saenz was present as was the legal counsel Bill Dugat virtual, 

administrative assistant Maggie Castillo, BCGCD General Manager Trainee Luis Pena 

either in person or by videoconference. Guests in attendance were Kenedy County 

General Manager Andy Garza in person, Mr. Robert Howard Consultant in person, 

George Gonzalez in person Duval County General Manager.  Rohit Goswami & James 

Beach virtual, WSP Consultants, Monica Jacobs legal counsel for Bass Brothers virtual.  

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

 

3. Public Comment:  None 

 

4. Review, discuss, and act on minutes of the May 26th, 2020 meeting.   

Motion made by Paul Goranson, second by A.C. Jones to approve the minutes, motion 

carried, unanimous vote to approve. 



       

01267796;1 5 

 

 

5.  Discuss, consider, and act on General Manager’s Report:                                           

 a. Report on KCGCD June 17/July15,2020 & DCGCD June 24/July 29, 2020  

  Meetings    

b. TAGD Meeting via teleconference May 27, 2020 

c. Public Funds Investment Training May 28, 2020  

d.  Region N Robstown via teleconference June 2, 2020  

e. Region M Regional Water Planning via teleconference July 1, 2020 @10:30 

f. Teleconference discussion with WSP consultants, Robert Howard, brackish 

groundwater rules, Friday June 12, 2020  

g. Mesteno Summer Program, Falfurrias High School Monday June 15, 2020 

h. BCGCD Budget committee meeting 

i. Follow up on BCGCD employee Insurance 

j Port of Corpus Christi/Harbor Island Desalination Project Preliminary Virtual 

SOAH Hearing on July 9, 2020 

k. 2020 Certified Tax Values 

l. SB 2 Section 26.18 Posting of Tax Rate and Budget Information by Taxing Unit 

on Website 

m. Well registrations, well plugging 

 

 For information only. Mr. Dugat mentioned that we need to add Louie’s name as 

the investment officer  

 

6. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on developing brackish groundwater rules with 

assistance from WSP Consultants James Beach and Rohit R Goswami.  

 Motion was made by Robert Scott to wait on developing Brackish Rules until somebody 

makes application for a brackish water production permit and at that point proceed in 

developing the brackish rule;  second by Paul Goranson, unanimous vote to approve. 

 

7. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on BCGCD Production Permits in Jim Wells County 

 a. Jose Ricardo Gonzalez (contested case by City of Premont) 

 b. Zelaya Brothers  

 c. City of Orange Grove (turned in well schematics, still offline) 

 General manger reported that Jose Ricardo Gonzalez registered new non-exempt water 

well and submitted production permit for pumping 15,000,000/yr.  Water from this well 

would be used in the Premont Hwy 281 by pass project.  GM also mentioned he had 

published public notice on the Gonzalez Permit application. Attorney Mark Wilkins 

tuned in to virtual meeting and stated he represented City of Premont and they were in 

process of submitting contested case hearing on the Gonzalez Permit application.  No 

action taken by the board on the Gonzalez Permit application.  GM  reported that Zellaya 

Bros talked about submitting  a request for changing registration of their well from 

exempt to non-non-exempt to sell water to Zachry Construction for by pass construction.  

Zellaya changed his mind upon learning he would need to apply for production permit.  

City of Orange Grove new well still not operational.  Will request permit amendment 

when well becomes operational. 



       

01267796;1 6 

 

 No vote needed on this item 

8. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on payment of Aqua Veo Hosting of BCGCD Water 

Well Database for period of December 2019 through May 2020. 

 This item was tabled pending contact with Royd Nelson. 

 

9. Discuss, consider and possibly act on Palmer Drought Report for 3rd Quarter.  

 For information only. 

10. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on 2020-2021 BCGCD Preliminary Budget. 

 Mr. Saenz presented the budget, mentioned we had budget committee workshop. 

 Motion to accept the preliminary budget was made by Paul Goranson, second by A.C. 

Jones, unanimous vote to approve. 

11. Discuss, consider and possibly act on payment of bills. 

 Mr. Saenz mentioned that the price for publication of the production permit went up, 

motion to pay the bills made by A.C. Jones, second by Robert Scott, unanimous vote to 

approve. 

 

12. Discuss, consider and possibly act on legislative assistance contract for 2020- 2021 fiscal 

year. 

 Motion made by Paul Goranson to hire Robert Howard for another year, second by Jesse 

Howell, unanimous vote to approve. 

 

13. Receive report on BCGCD Tax Collection Summary. 

  Mr. Saenz gave report, for information only. 

 

14.  Discuss, consider, and possibly act on legislative report from Robert Howard. 

 Mr. Howard gave his report. For information only. 

   

15. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on GMA 16 issues: 

 a. July 28, 2020 meeting details/Jevon Harding Discussion 9 factors of DFC. 

 Motion was made by Robert Scott to make General Manager Felix Saenz as the voting 

delegate for the GMA 16, second by Mario Martinez, unanimous vote to approve. 

  

16. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on correspondence received: 

 a. TWDB Exempt Water Use – BCGCD 

 For Information only. 

  

17. Discuss, consider, and possibly act on new business and select date for next meeting. 

 Items on the agenda for next meeting on August 25, 2020 are to approve budget, effective 

tax rate, financial plan, production permits.  Motion made by Robert Scott to approve 

next meeting date and new items on agenda, second by Mauro Garcia, unanimous vote to 

approve. 

 

18. Adjourn.   

 Motion to adjourn made by Robert Scott @11.47 second by A.C. Jones, unanimous vote 

to approve.                                      



       

01267796;1 7 

 

 

                                                                                                                                   

Passed and approved this 25th, day of August 2020. 

 

________________________________ 

President, Board of Directors 

 

 

Attest by:  

 

________________________________  

Secretary, Board of Directors  

 

 

 

[District Seal]  



Notes Kenedy County Meetings 

August 7th,2020 Meeting with General Manager Andy Garza and Legal Counsel Leo Villarreal 

to discuss possible request from James Clement to be annexed by Kenedy County Groundwater 

District.  Mr. Felix Saenz and Louie Pena traveled to Sarita, Mr. Villarreal showed us that the 

property that Mr. James Clement had purchased (Los Hermanos) after reviewing maps and 

deeds, Mr. Villarreal mentioned that the property was under Brush Country Groundwater 

conservation district and the previous owners had been paying taxes to Brooks. 

 

August 19, 2020, listened to virtual meeting online, Chuck Burns opened meeting @10.42 am.  

Started the meeting with Dr. Udamari on agenda item #7 the update on the boundaries of the 

Upper Lagarto BGPZ.  He mentioned that he looked at GIS data from the TWDB, shapefiles and 

GAM report, the total square miles is 142.43 upper Lagarto formation occupies 92.7% in Kenedy 

County, .627 square miles .44% in Brush Country GCD. 3 % in white area in Kenedy County, 2 

areas that are not annexed as part of Kenedy County 2.7 square miles 1,800 acres is in white area 

big discrepancy, little sliver in Brush Country because of projections, in terms of what the 

TWDB boundaries, for Brackish Production Zones. 

On agenda item #6 on submitting comments to the House Natural Resources Committee, Ms. 

Sahs exclaimed “we need clarification on “significant use”.  Also would like to comment on HB 

807 regional planning council, planning groups, we also would like an update on the new GAM 

for GMA16 by the TWDB. Andy Garza mentioned Brush Country and Kenedy County doing 

water levels, also Lonnie Stewart doing water levels. 

 On agenda item #4, Andy Garza also mentioned that he spoke to Cody Fry, mentioned that he 

had shut off solar well that was gushing when he was doing water levels, while checking water 

well levels he had bees, ticks, and chiggers.  On communications, had mentioned that Robert 

Williams had placed photos and short bios on board members.  Spoke about attending Brush 

Country meeting, that Brush Country consultants would wait on brackish rules until we received 

an application.  Mentioned that he attended Duval County’s meeting, that they were in chaos, 

that the legal counsel walked out, Duval now looking for new legal counsel.  Spoke about the 

GMA 16 meeting, mentioned the hydrological conditions, estimated amounts, water supply 

needed.  Mr. Garza mentioned subsidence left by the Saxet oil and gas near Clarkwood before 

you get to airport coming in from Robstown.   Mr. Garza spoke about 4-h ambassadors recipient 

from Harris County who had sent a thank you letter for sponsorship.  Mr. Garza mentioned that 

the City of Corpus Christi received monies for their desalination plant from the TWDB swift 

funds. 

On agenda item #9 Kenedy county canceled the election regarding directors of precinct 3 and 

precinct 4.   

On agenda item #10 Kenedy County GCD had their tax and budget workshop.  On agenda item 

#11, adopted 1.28 cents per$100, kept the same tax rate as last year.  #12, acted on to publish as 

required by law tax rate.  Will have two meetings in September on the 16th, and on 29th.  



 
  

 

P.O. Box 13231, 1700 N. Congress Ave. 
Austin, TX 78711-3231, www.twdb.texas.gov 
Phone (512) 463-7847, Fax (512) 475-2053 

 

Our Mission 
 

Leading the state’s efforts in ensuring  
a secure water future for Texas 

 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 

Board Members 
 

Peter M. Lake, Chairman │ Kathleen Jackson, Board Member │Brooke T. Paup, Board Member 

 
Jeff Walker, Executive Administrator 

 

TO:   Board Members 
 
THROUGH:  Jeff Walker, Executive Administrator 

John T. Dupnik, P.G., Deputy Executive Administrator, Water Science 
and Conservation 

  Ashely Harden, General Counsel 
  Rebecca Trevino, Chief Financial Officer 
 
FROM:  Erika Mancha, Manager, Innovative Water Technologies 

Kevin Kluge, Director, Conservation and Innovative Water Technologies 
 
DATE: July 20, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: Proposed rulemaking on brackish groundwater production zones 
 
 
ACTION REQUESTED 
Consider authorizing the Executive Administrator to publish proposed amendments 31 
Texas Administrative Code (TAC) 356 relating to brackish groundwater production zones. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In 2019, the 86th Texas Legislature passed House Bill 722 and created a framework for 
groundwater conservation districts (GCDs) to establish rules for a person interested in producing 
brackish groundwater from the Texas Water Development Board (TWDB) designated brackish 
groundwater production zones for a municipal drinking water project or an electric generation 
project. To date, the TWDB has identified and designated 31 local and regional brackish 
groundwater production zones in areas of the state with moderate to high availability and 
productivity of brackish groundwater that met certain criteria as directed in House Bill 30 by the 
84th Texas Legislature in 2015. 
 
House Bill 722 directed the TWDB to conduct technical reviews of operating permit applications 
and, when requested by a GCD, investigate the impacts of brackish groundwater production as 
described in the annual reports of the permitted production. House Bill 722 does not apply to a 
district that (1) overlies the Dockum Aquifer and (2) includes wholly or partly 10 or more 
counties, which is the High Plains Underground Water Conservation District No. 1. 
 
For technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone operating permit applications, 
the TWDB will submit to the GCD a report that includes (1) the findings regarding the 
compatibility of the proposed well field design with the designated brackish groundwater 



 

 
 

production zone and (2) recommendations for the monitoring system. The TWDB does not have 
a required timeline to conduct their technical reviews and prepare reports for GCDs. 
 
For requests from GCDs for technical reviews of associated annual production reports, the 
TWDB will submit to the GCD a report that addresses whether the brackish groundwater 
production from the permitted project is projected to cause: (1)  significant, unanticipated aquifer 
level declines or (2) negative impact on  water quality in the same or an adjacent aquifer, 
subdivision of an aquifer, or geologic stratum. The report will also include analysis of subsidence 
caused by brackish groundwater production during the permit term, if the brackish groundwater 
production zone is in the Gulf Coast Aquifer. The TWDB has 120 days after receiving a request 
to conduct the technical investigations and return the report to the GCD. 
 
KEY ISSUES 
To implement the directive, the TWDB is proposing rulemaking to implement the technical 
reviews by adding two new definitions in Section 356.10 and creating a new Subchapter G in 
TAC Chapter 356, relating to brackish groundwater production zones. We propose adding two 
terms that will be used in the new subchapter: ‘brackish groundwater production zone operating 
permit’ and ‘designated brackish groundwater production zone.’  
 
The proposed new Subchapter G would include three sections. Section 356.70 will clarify how 
the agency identifies and designates local or regional brackish groundwater production zones in 
areas of the state that meet specific criteria and the information required to be provided for each 
zone. Section 356.71 will outline how the agency will conduct an assessment and technical 
review of a brackish groundwater production zone operating permit applications, upon request 
by a GCD. Section 356.72 will outline how the agency will investigate and conduct a technical 
review of annual reports, upon request by a GCD. The last two sections will also discuss the 
information required to conduct the technical reviews and the information contained in the 
reports that the agency will return to the requesting GCD. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
In order to clarify the technical reviews of operating permit applications and associated annual 
reports as required by House Bill 722, the Executive Administrator recommends publishing 
procedural rules as proposed. 
 
 
Attachment(s): Preamble for rulemaking 
   Fiscal Note for rulemaking 

Proposed Rulemaking Memorandum 
 



ATTACHMENT 

Preamble for rulemaking 

  



 

 
 

The Texas Water Development Board (“TWDB” or “board”) proposes an amendment to 31 
Texas Administrative Code (TAC) §356.10 and proposes a new Subchapter G, 31 TAC 356, 
relating to brackish groundwater production zones requirements by statutory amendments to 
Chapter 36 of the Texas Water Code. 
 
BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY OF THE FACTUAL BASIS FOR THE PROPOSED 
AMENDMENT.  
 
Through House Bill 722 of the 86th Texas Legislature, 2019, the Legislature created a 
framework for groundwater conservation districts to establish rules for a person interested in 
obtaining a permit from a groundwater conservation district to authorize producing brackish 
groundwater from a designated brackish groundwater production zone for (1) a municipal 
drinking water project and (2) an electric generation project. The Legislature directed the TWDB 
to conduct technical reviews of operating permit applications and, when requested by a 
groundwater conservation district, conduct technical reviews of annual reports and summarize 
findings in a report. 
 
The TWDB is proposing rules to implement the technical reviews by adding two new definitions 
in Section 356.10 and creating a new subchapter in Chapter 356, relating to brackish 
groundwater production zones. 
 
SECTION BY SECTION DISCUSSION OF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. 
 
31 TAC §356.10 contains definitions related to groundwater management. The proposed 
amendment to §356.10 adds definitions for the following two terms that will be used in the 
proposed new Subchapter G: “Brackish groundwater production zone operating permit” and 
“Designated brackish groundwater production zone”. 
 
Proposed Amendment to 31 TAC Chapter 356 by addition of a New Subchapter G (relating to 
brackish groundwater production zones) 
 
31 TAC §356.70. Brackish Groundwater Production Zone Designation of Subchapter G. 
Section 356.70 is proposed to clarify how the agency identifies and designates local or regional 
brackish groundwater production zones in areas of the state that meet specific criteria and the 
information required to be provided for each zone.  A designated brackish groundwater 
production zone may span multiple groundwater conservation districts and statute does not 
clarify how groundwater conservation districts should coordinate with each other related to 
production volumes and sharing information. 
 
31 TAC §356.71. Brackish Groundwater Production Zone Operating Permit Review. 
Section 356.71 is proposed to outline how the agency will conduct an assessment and technical 
review of a brackish groundwater production zone operating permit applications. The section 
also discusses the information required to conduct the technical review and the report the agency 
will provide the groundwater conservation district that submitted the application. 
 
31 TAC §356.72. Annual Report Review 
Section 356.72 is proposed to outline how the agency will investigate and conduct a technical 
review of an annual report(s), upon request by a groundwater conservation district. The section 



 

 
 

also discusses the information required to conduct the technical review and the technical report 
the agency will issue to the groundwater conservation district that sends the request. 
 
 
FISCAL NOTE: COSTS TO STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS 
 
Ms. Rebecca Trevino, Chief Financial Officer, has determined that there will be no fiscal 
implications for state or local governments as a result of the proposed rulemaking. For the first 
five years these rules are in effect, there is no expected additional cost to state or local 
governments resulting from their administration.   
 
These rules are not expected to result in reductions in costs to either state or local governments.  
There is no change in costs for implementing these amendments and adding a new subchapter. 
These rules are not expected to have any impact on state or local revenues. The rules do not 
require any increase in expenditures for state or local governments as a result of administering 
these rules. Additionally, there are no foreseeable implications relating to state or local 
governments’ costs or revenue resulting from these rules. 
 
Because these rules will not impose a cost on regulated persons, the requirement included in 
Texas Government Code Section 2001.0045 to repeal a rule does not apply. Furthermore, the 
requirement in Section 2001.0045 does not apply because these rules are amended to reduce the 
burden or responsibilities imposed on regulated persons by the rule; are necessary to protect 
water resources of this state as authorized by the Water Code; and are necessary to implement 
legislation. 
The board invites public comment regarding this fiscal note. Written comments on the fiscal note 
may be submitted to the contact person at the address listed under the Submission of Comments 
section of this preamble.  
PUBLIC BENEFITS AND COSTS 
 
Ms. Rebecca Trevino also has determined that for each year of the first five years the proposed 
rulemaking is in effect, the public will benefit from the rulemaking as the rules will clarify the 
agency’s role in technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone operating permit 
applications and associated annual reports and groundwater conservation districts will be able to 
receive these technical reviews and reports. 
 
LOCAL EMPLOYMENT IMPACT STATEMENT 
 
The board has determined that a local employment impact statement is not required because the 
proposed rule does not adversely affect a local economy in a material way for the first five years 
that the proposed rule is in effect because it will impose no new requirements on local 
economies. The board also has determined that there will be no adverse economic effect on small 
businesses, micro-businesses, or rural communities as a result of enforcing this rulemaking. The 
board also has determined that there is no anticipated economic cost to persons who are required 
to comply with the rulemaking as proposed. Therefore, no regulatory flexibility analysis is 
necessary. 
 
DRAFT REGULATORY IMPACT ANALYSIS DETERMINATION 



 

 
 

The board reviewed the proposed rulemaking in light of the regulatory analysis requirements of 
Texas Government Code §2001.0225, and determined that the rulemaking is not subject to Texas 
Government Code, §2001.0225, because it does not meet the definition of a “major 
environmental rule” as defined in the Administrative Procedure Act.  A “major environmental 
rule” is defined as a rule with the specific intent to protect the environment or reduce risks to 
human health from environmental exposure, a rule that may adversely affect in a material way 
the economy or a sector of the economy, productivity, competition, jobs, the environment, or the 
public health and safety of the state or a sector of the state.  The intent of the rulemaking is to 
clarify the agency’s role in technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone operating 
permit applications and associated annual reports. 
Even if the proposed rule were a major environmental rule, Texas Government Code, 
§2001.0225 still would not apply to this rulemaking because Texas Government Code, 
§2001.0225 only applies to a major environmental rule, the result of which is to: (1) exceed a 
standard set by federal law, unless the rule is specifically required by state law; (2) exceed an 
express requirement of state law, unless the rule is specifically required by federal law; (3) 
exceed a requirement of a delegation agreement or contract between the state and an agency or 
representative of the federal government to implement a state and federal program; or (4) adopt a 
rule solely under the general powers of the agency instead of under a specific state law. This 
rulemaking does not meet any of these four applicability criteria because it: (1) does not exceed 
any standard set by any federal law; (2) does not exceed an express requirement of state law; (3) 
does not exceed a requirement of a delegation agreement or contract between the state and an 
agency or representative of the federal government to implement a state and federal program; 
and (4) is not proposed solely under the general powers of the agency, but rather is proposed 
under the authority of Texas Water Code §§16.060 and 36.1015. Therefore, this proposed rule 
does not fall under any of the applicability criteria in Texas Government Code, §2001.0225.  
The board invites public comment regarding this draft regulatory impact analysis determination. 
Written comments on the draft regulatory impact analysis determination may be submitted to the 
contact person at the address listed under the Submission of Comments section of this preamble.  
TAKINGS IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
The board evaluated this proposed rule and performed an analysis of whether it constitutes a 
taking under Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007. The specific purpose of this rule is to 
implement legislation and clarify the agency’s role in technical reviews of brackish groundwater 
production zone operating permit applications and associated annual reports. The proposed rule 
would substantially advance this stated purpose by proposing new rules for brackish groundwater 
productions zone designation and guiding groundwater conservation districts in the technical 
review process of permit applications and annual reports.  
The board's analysis indicates that Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007 does not apply to this 
proposed rule because this is an action that is reasonably taken to fulfill an obligation mandated 
by state law, which is exempt under Texas Government Code, §2007.003(b)(4). The board is the 
agency that identifies and designates brackish groundwater production zones.  
Nevertheless, the board further evaluated this proposed rule and performed an assessment of 
whether it constitutes a taking under Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007. Promulgation and 
enforcement of this proposed rule would be neither a statutory nor a constitutional taking of 
private real property. Specifically, the subject proposed regulation does not affect a landowner's 
rights in private real property because this rulemaking does not burden nor restrict or limit the 
owner's right to property and reduce its value by 25% or more beyond that which would 
otherwise exist in the absence of the regulation. Therefore, the proposed rule does not constitute 
a taking under Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007.  



 

 
 

GOVERNMENT GROWTH IMPACT STATEMENT 
 
The board reviewed the proposed rulemaking in light of the government growth impact 
statement requirements of Texas Government Code §2001.0221 and has determined, for the first 
five years the proposed rule would be in effect, the proposed rule will not: (1) create or eliminate 
a government program; (2) require the creation of new employee positions or the elimination of 
existing employee positions; (3) require an increase or decrease in future legislative 
appropriations to the agency; (4) require an increase or decrease in fees paid to the agency; (5) 
create a new regulation; (6) expand, limit, or repeal an existing regulation; (7) increase or 
decrease the number of individuals subject to the rule's applicability; or (8) positively or 
adversely affect this state's economy. 
 
SUBMISSION OF COMMENTS 
 
Written comments on the proposed rulemaking may be submitted by mail to Office of General 
Counsel, Texas Water Development Board, P.O. Box 13231, Austin, Texas 78711-3231, by 
email to rulescomments@twdb.texas.gov, or by fax to (512) 475-2053.   Comments will be 
accepted until 5:00 p.m. of the 31st day following publication the Texas Register.  Include 
Chapter 356 in the subject line of any comments submitted. 
 
STATUTORY AUTHORITY 
 
This rulemaking is proposed under the authority of Texas Water Code §6.101, which authorizes 
the board to adopt rules necessary to carry out the powers and duties of the board; and Texas 
Water Code §§16.060 and 36.1015, which requires the board to designate brackish groundwater 
production zones and to conduct technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone 
operating permit applications and annual reports. 
 
Chapters 16 and 36 of the Texas Water Code are affected by this rulemaking. 
 
 
 
<rule> 
 
CHAPTER 356. GROUNDWATER MANAGMENT 
 
SUBCHAPTER A. DEFINITONS 
 
§356.10. Definitions. 
 
(1) – (4) no change 
 
(5) Brackish groundwater production zone operating permit--a permit issued by a district under 
Texas Water Code §36.1015. 
 
(6)[(5)] Conjunctive use--The combined use of groundwater and surface water sources that 
optimizes the beneficial characteristics of each source, such as water banking, aquifer storage 
and recovery, enhanced recharge, and joint management. 



 

 
 

 
(7)[(6)] Conjunctive surface management issues--Issues related to conjunctive use such as 
groundwater or surface water quality degradation and impacts of shifting between surface water 
and groundwater during shortages. 
 
(8) Designated brackish groundwater production zone – an aquifer, subdivision of an aquifer, or 
geologic stratum designated under Texas Water Code §16.060(b)(5).  
 
(9)[(7)] Desired future condition--The desired, quantified condition of groundwater resources 
(such as water levels, spring flows, or volumes) within a management area at one or more 
specified future times as defined by participating groundwater conservation districts within a 
groundwater management area as part of the joint planning process. 
 
(10)[(8)] District--Any district or authority subject to Chapter 36, Texas Water Code. 
 
(11)[(9)] Executive administrator--The executive administrator of the Texas Water Development 
Board or a designated representative. 
 
(12)[(10)] Groundwater Availability Model--A regional groundwater flow model approved by 
the executive administrator. 
 
(13)[(11)] Major aquifer--An aquifer designated as a major aquifer in the State Water Plan. 
 
(14)[(12)] Minor aquifer--An aquifer designated as a minor aquifer in the State Water Plan. 
 
(15)[(13)] Modeled Available Groundwater--The amount of water that the executive 
administrator determines may be produced on an average annual basis to achieve a desired future 
condition. 
 
(16)[(14)] Most efficient use of groundwater--Practices, techniques, and technologies that a 
district determines will provide the least consumption of groundwater for each type of use 
balanced with the benefits of using groundwater. 
 
(17)[(15)] Natural resources issues--Issues related to environmental and other concerns that may 
be affected by a district's groundwater management plan and rules, such as impacts on 
endangered species, soils, oil and gas production, mining, air and water quality degradation, 
agriculture, and plant and animal life. 
 
(18)[(16)] Office--State Office of Administrative Hearings. 
 
(19)[(17)] Petition--A document submitted to the groundwater conservation district by an 
affected person appealing the reasonableness of a desired future condition. 
 
(20)[(18)] Projected water demand--The quantity of water needed on an annual basis according 
to the state water plan for the state water plan planning period. 
 



 

 
 

(21)[(19)] Recharge enhancement--Increased recharge accomplished by the modification of the 
land surface, streams, or lakes to increase seepage or infiltration rates or by the direct injection of 
water into the subsurface through wells. 
 
(22)[(20)] Relevant aquifer--An aquifer designated as a major or minor aquifer. 
 
(23)[(21)] State water plan--The most recent state water plan adopted by the board under Texas 
Water Code §16.051 (relating to State Water Plan). 
 
(24)[(22)] Surface water management entities--Political subdivisions as defined by Texas Water 
Code Chapter 15 and identified from Texas Commission on Environmental Quality records that 
are granted authority under Texas Water Code Chapter 11 to store, take, divert, or supply surface 
water either directly or by contract for use within the boundaries of a district. 
 
(25)[(23)] Total Estimated Recoverable Storage--The estimated amount of groundwater within 
an aquifer that accounts for recovery scenarios that range between 25% and 75% of the porosity-
adjusted aquifer volume. 
 
 
*n 
 
STATUTORY AUTHORITY 
 
This rulemaking is proposed under the authority of Texas Water Code §6.101, which authorizes 
the board to adopt rules necessary to carry out the powers and duties of the board; and Texas 
Water Code §§16.060 and 36.1015, which requires the board to designate brackish groundwater 
production zones and to conduct technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone 
operating permit applications and annual reports. 
 
Chapters 16 and 36 of the Texas Water Code are affected by this rulemaking. 
 
 
<rule> 
 
SUBCHAPTER G. BRACKISH GROUNDWATER PRODUCTION ZONES. 
 
§356.70. Brackish Groundwater Production Zone Designation. 
 
(a) The agency will identify and designate local or regional brackish groundwater production 
zones in areas of the state with moderate to high availability and productivity of brackish 
groundwater that can be used to reduce the use of fresh groundwater and that: 
 
(1) are separated by hydrogeologic barriers sufficient to prevent significant impacts to water 
availability or water quality in any area of the same or other aquifers, subdivisions of aquifers, or 
geologic strata that have an average total dissolved solids level of 1,000 milligrams per liter or 
less at the time of designation of the zones; and 
 
(2) are not located in: 



 

 
 

 
(A) an area of the Edwards Aquifer subject to the jurisdiction of the Edwards Aquifer Authority; 
 
(B) the boundaries of the: 
 
(i) Barton Springs-Edwards Aquifer Conservation District; 
 
(ii) Harris-Galveston Subsidence District; or 
 
(iii) Fort Bend Subsidence District; 
 
(C) an aquifer, subdivision of an aquifer, or geologic stratum that: 
 
(i) has an average total dissolved solids level of more than 1,000 milligrams per liter; and 
 
(ii) is serving as a significant source of water supply for municipal, domestic, or agricultural 
purposes at the time of designation of the zones; or 
 
(D) an area of a geologic stratum that is designated or used for wastewater injection through the 
use of injection wells or disposal wells permitted under Texas Water Code Chapter 27. 
 
(b) In designating a brackish groundwater production zone under this section, the agency shall: 
 
(1) determine the amount of brackish groundwater that the zone is capable of producing over a 
30-year period and a 50-year period without causing a significant impact to water availability or 
water quality as described by Paragraph (a)(1); and 
 
(2) include in the designation description: 
 
(A) the amounts of brackish groundwater that the zone is capable of producing during the 
periods described by Paragraph (1); and 
 
(B) recommendations regarding reasonable monitoring to observe the effects of brackish 
groundwater production within the zone. 
 
(c) Areas of the state that are not designated as brackish groundwater production zones are not 
precluded from development of brackish groundwater or from future designation of zones. 
 
§356.71. Brackish Groundwater Production Zone Operating Permit Review. 
 
(a) This section does not apply to a district that overlies the Dockum Aquifer and includes 
wholly or partly 10 or more counties.  
 
(b) When a district submits an application for a brackish groundwater production zone operating 
permit to the agency, the agency will conduct a technical review of the application, subject to 
subsections (c) and (d). 
 



 

 
 

(c) Upon receipt of such an application, the agency will assess the application to determine 
whether a proposed production well is located within a designated brackish groundwater 
production zone. If a proposed production well is not located within a designated brackish 
groundwater production zone, the agency will not conduct the technical review of the 
application. If a proposed production well is located within a designated brackish groundwater 
production zone, the agency will conduct the technical review of the applicable permit 
application or applicable portions of a permit application in accordance with subsections (d) – 
(f). 
 
(d) Upon receipt of an application for a brackish groundwater production zone operating permit 
for a proposed production well located within a designated brackish groundwater production 
zone and that includes all of the information required by Texas Water Code §36.1015(g), the 
agency will conduct a technical review of the application.  If the agency does not receive all of 
the information required by Texas Water Code §36.1015(g), the agency will notify the district of 
the missing information.  The agency will not conduct a technical review of an incomplete 
application until all required information is received.  
 
(e) After conducting the application assessment and required technical review of a complete 
application, the board shall provide a report of the technical review of the application to the 
district that submitted the application that includes: 
 
(1) findings regarding the compatibility of the proposed well field design with the designated 
brackish groundwater production zone, including: 
 
(A) whether the proposed production exceeds the amount of brackish groundwater that the zone 
is capable of producing over a 30-year period and a 50-year period, as determined pursuant to 
Texas Water Code §16.060(e); and 
 
(B) whether the parameters and assumptions used in the model described in Texas Water Code 
§36.1015(g)(4)(A) are compatible with the designated brackish groundwater production zone; 
 
(2) recommendations for the monitoring system required by Texas Water Code §36.1015(e)(4) 
and (6), including whether the number of monitoring wells are adequate and in appropriate 
locations and aquifers, in accordance with recommendations established under Texas Water 
Code §16.060(e)(2)(B); 
 
(f) The findings and recommendations included in subsection (e) will only be site-specific if the 
agency has received site-specific data and information from the district. 
 
 
§356.72. Annual Report Review 
 
(a) If a district makes a request under Texas Water Code §36.1015(j), the agency will investigate 
and issue a technical report to the district that sent the request, subject to subsection (b).  
 
(b) Upon receipt of a request, the agency will determine whether it has received the applicable 
annual report and all of the information required under Texas Water Code §36.1015(e)(6), and 
for a project located in a designated brackish groundwater production zone in the Gulf Coast 



 

 
 

Aquifer, the information required to be collected under Texas Water Code §36.1015(e)(5) related 
to subsidence. If the agency has not received all of the information required under Texas Water 
Code §36.1015(e)(6) or §36.1016(e)(5), as applicable, the agency will notify the district of the 
missing information and will not conduct a technical review of the reports until all required 
information is received. 
 
(c) Not later than the 120th day after the date the agency receives all of the required information, 
the agency will investigate and issue a technical report on whether: 
 
(1) brackish groundwater production under the project that is the subject of the report from the 
designated brackish groundwater production zone is projected to cause: 
 
(A) significant aquifer level declines in the same or an adjacent aquifer, subdivision of an 
aquifer, or geologic stratum that were not anticipated by the agency in the designation of the 
zone; 
 
(B) negative effects on quality of water in an aquifer, subdivision of an aquifer, or geologic 
stratum; or 
 
(C) for a project located in a designated brackish groundwater production zone in the Gulf Coast 
Aquifer, subsidence during the permit term; 
 
(2) not enough information is available to determine whether brackish groundwater production 
under the project that is the subject of the report from the designated brackish groundwater 
production zone is projected to cause the conditions listed in subsection (a)(1). 
 

 
  



 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 
 

Fiscal Note for rulemaking



 
  

 

P.O. Box 13231, 1700 N. Congress Ave. 
Austin, TX 78711-3231, www.twdb.texas.gov 
Phone (512) 463-7847, Fax (512) 475-2053 

 

Our Mission 
 

Leading the state’s efforts in ensuring  
a secure water future for Texas 

 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 

Board Members 
 

Peter M. Lake, Chairman │ Kathleen Jackson, Board Member │Brooke T. Paup, Board Member 

 
Jeff Walker, Executive Administrator 

 

TO:   Rebecca Trevino, Chief Financial Officer 
 
THROUGH:  Chris Hayden, Budget Director 
 
FROM:  Erika Mancha, Manager, Innovative Water Technologies 

Kevin Kluge, Director, Conservation and Innovative Water Technologies 
 
DATE: July 20, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: Fiscal Analysis for Proposed Amendments to 31 Texas Administrative 

Code 356 regarding brackish groundwater production zones 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
Your approval of the fiscal note portion of the proposed rulemaking relating to amendments to 
31 Texas Administrative Code (TAC) 356 is required.  
 
Through House Bill 722 of the 86th Texas Legislature, 2019, the Legislature created a 
framework for groundwater conservation districts to establish rules for a person 
interested in producing brackish groundwater from a designated brackish groundwater 
production zone for (1) a municipal drinking water project and (2) an electric generation 
project. The Legislature directed the TWDB to conduct technical reviews of operating 
permit applications and, when requested by a groundwater conservation district, conduct 
technical reviews of annual reports and summarize findings in a report. 
 
The TWDB is proposing rules to implement the technical reviews by adding two new definitions 
in Section 356.10 and creating a new subchapter in Chapter 356, relating to brackish 
groundwater production zones. 
 
FISCAL ANALYSIS 
 
The estimated fiscal implications of these proposed rule changes for the first five-year period 
they are in effect is as follows: 
 
A. Costs to State and Local Government. 
 
These rules are not expected to result in reductions in costs to either state or local governments. 
These rules apply only to those entities interested in obtaining a brackish groundwater 
production zone operating permit from a groundwater conservation district. The intent of these 



Board Members 
July 20, 2020 
Page  
 

 
 

rules is to clarify the agency’s role in the technical reviews of brackish groundwater production 
zone operating permit applications and associated annual reports. 
 
These rules are not expected to have any impact on state or local revenues. These rules are 
applicable to designated brackish groundwater production zones in the State. An interested 
person may decide to apply for brackish groundwater production zone operating permit to 
withdraw brackish groundwater and construct desalination plant to treat the groundwater, that 
voluntary decision would create additional jobs for the duration of the construction and operation 
of the desalination plant and possible revenues. However, the adoption of these rules alone has 
no impact on state or local revenues. 
 
Effect on Government 
Effect on State Government (including TWDB) 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Estimated additional cost 0 0 0 0 0 
Estimated reduction in cost 0 0 0 0 0 
Estimated loss or increase 0 0 0 0 0 
Effect on Local Government 
Estimated additional cost 0 0 0 0 0 
Estimated reduction in cost 0 0 0 0 0 
Estimated loss or increase 0 0 0 0 0 
      

 
B. Public Benefits and Costs: It is estimated that for the first five-year period the rules are in 
effect the public will benefit from the rulemaking. The public will benefit from the rulemaking as 
the rules will clarify the agency’s role in technical reviews of brackish groundwater production 
zone operating permit applications and associated annual reports and groundwater conservation 
districts will be able to receive these technical reviews and reports. 
 
C. Small business, micro-business, and rural community assessment: The cost of compliance 
with the proposed amendments for small businesses, micro-businesses, and rural communities 
will be $0 because the rules are not regulatory and are not directed at private small or micro-
businesses. 
 
D. Small business and rural community regulatory flexibility statement: These rules do not 
affect small businesses or rural communities because they apply only to those entities interested 
in obtaining a brackish groundwater production zone operating permit from a groundwater 
conservation district. There is nothing in the rules that is directed to private small businesses. 
 
E. Local Employment Economic Impact Statement: Pursuant to Texas Government Code § 
2001.022, these proposed rules have been examined and there will not be any direct effect on 
local employment. These rules are applicable to designated brackish groundwater production 
zones in the State. An interested person may decide to apply for brackish groundwater 
production zone operating permit to withdraw brackish groundwater and construct desalination 



Board Members 
July 20, 2020 
Page  
 

 
 

plant to treat the groundwater, that voluntary decision would create additional jobs for the 
duration of the construction and operation of the desalination plant. However, the adoption of 
these rules alone has no impact on local employment in any geographic region of the State.  
 
 
 
___________________________________    ______________________ 
Rebecca Trevino, Chief Financial Officer      Date 
 
 
Return final, executed copy to the Office of General Counsel to be retained with the rulemaking 
file.  This memo is not a part of the Board member notebook materials and is not posted to the 
website. 
 



 

 

ATTACHMENT 

Proposed Rulemaking Memorandum 

 



 

 
 

Proposed	Rulemaking	Memorandum	

To: Fisher Reynolds, Policy advisor 

From: Ashley Harden, General Counsel 

Date: July 20, 2020 

Subject: Proposed rulemaking for designated brackish groundwater production zones 

The Texas Water Development Board proposes a rulemaking for an amendment to 31 Texas 
Administrative Code (TAC) §356.10 and a new Subchapter G, 31 TAC 356, relating to brackish 
groundwater production zones requirements. 

1. Provide	the	draft	Notice	of	Proposed	Rule	that	you	intend	to	submit	to	the	Texas	
Register,	including	preambles,	comments,	notices,	and	any	other	text	that	will	be	
submitted	to	the	Texas	Register	

See attachments. 
 

2. Attach	to	this	memorandum	a	complete	copy	of	the	following	analyses:	
	

a. The	 analysis	 supporting	 the	 draft	 government	 growth	 impact	 statement	
required	by	Texas	Government	Code	§	2001.0221.	

The board reviewed the proposed rulemaking in light of the government growth impact statement 
requirements of Texas Government Code §2001.0221 and has determined, for the first five years 
the proposed rule would be in effect, the proposed rule will not: (1) create or eliminate a 
government program; (2) require the creation of new employee positions or the elimination of 
existing employee positions; (3) require an increase or decrease in future legislative appropriations 
to the agency; (4) require an increase or decrease in fees paid to the agency; (5) create a new 
regulation; (6) expand, limit, or repeal an existing regulation; (7) increase or decrease the number 
of individuals subject to the rule's applicability; or (8) positively or adversely affect this state's 
economy. 
 

b. The	 analysis	 supporting	 the	 economic	 impact	 statement	 required	 by	 Texas	
Government	Code	§	2006.002.	

Ms. Rebecca Trevino, Chief Financial Officer, has determined that there will be no fiscal implications 
for state or local governments as a result of the proposed rulemaking. For the first five years these 
rules are in effect, there is no expected additional cost to state or local governments resulting from 
their administration.   
 
These rules are not expected to result in reductions in costs to either state or local governments.  
There is no change in costs for implementing these amendments and adding a new subchapter. 
These rules are not expected to have any impact on state or local revenues. The rules do not require 
any increase in expenditures for state or local governments as a result of administering these rules. 
Additionally, there are no foreseeable implications relating to state or local governments’ costs or 
revenue resulting from these rules. 
 
Because these rules will not impose a cost on regulated persons, the requirement included in Texas 
Government Code Section 2001.0045 to repeal a rule does not apply. Furthermore, the requirement 
in Section 2001.0045 does not apply because these rules are amended to reduce the burden or 



 

 
 

responsibilities imposed on regulated persons by the rule; are necessary to protect water resources 
of this state as authorized by the Water Code; and are necessary to implement legislation. 
 
The board invites public comment regarding this fiscal note. Written comments on the fiscal note 
may be submitted to the contact person at the address listed under the Submission of Comments 
section of this preamble.  
 

c. The	analysis	supporting	the	regulatory	 flexibility	analysis	required	by	Texas	
Government	Code	§	2006.002.	

The board reviewed the proposed rulemaking in light of the regulatory analysis requirements of 
Texas Government Code §2001.0225, and determined that the rulemaking is not subject to Texas 
Government Code, §2001.0225, because it does not meet the definition of a “major environmental 
rule” as defined in the Administrative Procedure Act.  A “major environmental rule” is defined as a 
rule with the specific intent to protect the environment or reduce risks to human health from 
environmental exposure, a rule that may adversely affect in a material way the economy or a sector 
of the economy, productivity, competition, jobs, the environment, or the public health and safety of 
the state or a sector of the state.  The intent of the rulemaking is to clarify the agency’s role in 
technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone operating permit applications and 
associated annual reports. 
 
Even if the proposed rule were a major environmental rule, Texas Government Code, §2001.0225 
still would not apply to this rulemaking because Texas Government Code, §2001.0225 only applies 
to a major environmental rule, the result of which is to: (1) exceed a standard set by federal law, 
unless the rule is specifically required by state law; (2) exceed an express requirement of state law, 
unless the rule is specifically required by federal law; (3) exceed a requirement of a delegation 
agreement or contract between the state and an agency or representative of the federal government 
to implement a state and federal program; or (4) adopt a rule solely under the general powers of the 
agency instead of under a specific state law. This rulemaking does not meet any of these four 
applicability criteria because it: (1) does not exceed any standard set by any federal law; (2) does not 
exceed an express requirement of state law; (3) does not exceed a requirement of a delegation 
agreement or contract between the state and an agency or representative of the federal government 
to implement a state and federal program; and (4) is not proposed solely under the general powers 
of the agency, but rather is proposed under the authority of Texas Water Code §§16.060 and 36.1015. 
Therefore, this proposed rule does not fall under any of the applicability criteria in Texas Government 
Code, §2001.0225.  
 
The board invites public comment regarding this draft regulatory impact analysis determination. 
Written comments on the draft regulatory impact analysis determination may be submitted to the 
contact person at the address listed under the Submission of Comments section of this preamble.  
 

d. The	analysis	supporting	the	takings	impact	assessment	required	by	Tex.	Gov’t	
Code	§	2007.043.	

The board evaluated this proposed rule and performed an analysis of whether it constitutes a 
taking under Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007. The specific purpose of this rule is to 
implement legislation and clarify the agency’s role in technical reviews of brackish groundwater 
production zone operating permit applications and associated annual reports. The proposed rule 
would substantially advance this stated purpose by proposing new rules for brackish groundwater 



 

 
 

productions zone designation and guiding groundwater conservation districts in the technical 
review process of permit applications and annual reports.  
 
The board's analysis indicates that Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007 does not apply to this 
proposed rule because this is an action that is reasonably taken to fulfill an obligation mandated by 
state law, which is exempt under Texas Government Code, §2007.003(b)(4). The board is the 
agency that identifies and designates brackish groundwater production zones.  
 
Nevertheless, the board further evaluated this proposed rule and performed an assessment of 
whether it constitutes a taking under Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007. Promulgation and 
enforcement of this proposed rule would be neither a statutory nor a constitutional taking of 
private real property. Specifically, the subject proposed regulation does not affect a landowner's 
rights in private real property because this rulemaking does not burden nor restrict or limit the 
owner's right to property and reduce its value by 25% or more beyond that which would otherwise 
exist in the absence of the regulation. Therefore, the proposed rule does not constitute a taking 
under Texas Government Code, Chapter 2007.  
 

e. The	analysis	supporting	the	 local	employment	 impact	statement	required	by	
Texas	Government	Code	§	2001.024(a)(6).	

The board has determined that a local employment impact statement is not required because the 
proposed rule does not adversely affect a local economy in a material way for the first five years 
that the proposed rule is in effect because it will impose no new requirements on local economies. 
The board also has determined that there will be no adverse economic effect on small businesses, 
micro-businesses, or rural communities as a result of enforcing this rulemaking. The board also has 
determined that there is no anticipated economic cost to persons who are required to comply with 
the rulemaking as proposed. Therefore, no regulatory flexibility analysis is necessary. 
 

f. The	 analysis	 supporting	 the	 cost‐benefit	 analysis	 required	 by	 Texas	
Government	Code	§	2001.024(a)(5).	

Ms. Rebecca Trevino also has determined that for each year of the first five years the proposed 
rulemaking is in effect, the public will benefit from the rulemaking as the rules will clarify the 
agency’s role in technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone operating permit 
applications and associated annual reports and groundwater conservation districts will be able to 
receive these technical reviews and reports. 
 

g. The	analysis	supporting	 the	 fiscal	note	required	by	Texas	Government	Code	
§	2001.024(a)(4).	

Ms. Rebecca Trevino, Chief Financial Officer, has determined that there will be no fiscal implications 
for state or local governments as a result of the proposed rulemaking. For the first five years these 
rules are in effect, there is no expected additional cost to state or local governments resulting from 
their administration.   
 
These rules are not expected to result in reductions in costs to either state or local governments.  
There is no change in costs for implementing these amendments and adding a new subchapter. 
These rules are not expected to have any impact on state or local revenues. The rules do not require 
any increase in expenditures for state or local governments as a result of administering these rules. 
Additionally, there are no foreseeable implications relating to state or local governments’ costs or 
revenue resulting from these rules. 
 



 

 
 

Because these rules will not impose a cost on regulated persons, the requirement included in Texas 
Government Code Section 2001.0045 to repeal a rule does not apply. Furthermore, the requirement 
in Section 2001.0045 does not apply because these rules are amended to reduce the burden or 
responsibilities imposed on regulated persons by the rule; are necessary to protect water resources 
of this state as authorized by the Water Code; and are necessary to implement legislation. 
The board invites public comment regarding this fiscal note. Written comments on the fiscal note 
may be submitted to the contact person at the address listed under the Submission of Comments 
section of this preamble.  
	

3. If	Texas	Government	Code	§	2001.0045(b)	applies	to	the	proposed	rule,	identify	the	
proposed	repeal	or	amendment	that	offsets	the	costs	imposed	by	the	proposed	rule	
and	explain	 the	reasoning	behind	your	estimates	of	 the	costs.	 If	Texas	Government	
Code	§	2001.0045(b)	does	not	apply	to	the	proposed	rule,	explain	why.	

Because these rules will not impose a cost on regulated persons, the requirement included in Texas 
Government Code Section 2001.0045 to repeal a rule does not apply. Furthermore, the requirement 
in Section 2001.0045 does not apply because these rules are amended to reduce the burden or 
responsibilities imposed on regulated persons by the rule; are necessary to protect water resources 
of this state as authorized by the Water Code; and are necessary to implement legislation. 
	

4. Is	there	anything	else	you	would	 like	the	Office	of	the	Governor	to	know	about	this	
proposed	rule?	

This rulemaking is proposed under the authority of Texas Water Code §6.101, which authorizes 
the board to adopt rules necessary to carry out the powers and duties of the board; and Texas 
Water Code §§16.060 and 36.1015, which requires the board to designate brackish groundwater 
production zones and to conduct technical reviews of brackish groundwater production zone 
operating permit applications and annual reports. 
 
Through House Bill 722 of the 86th Texas Legislature, 2019, the Legislature created a framework for 
groundwater conservation districts to establish rules for a person interested in obtaining a permit 
from a groundwater conservation district to authorize producing brackish groundwater from a 
designated brackish groundwater production zone for (1) a municipal drinking water project and (2) 
an electric generation project. The Legislature directed the TWDB to conduct technical reviews of 
operating permit applications and, when requested by a groundwater conservation district, conduct 
technical reviews of annual reports and summarize findings in a report. 
 
The TWDB is proposing rules to implement the technical reviews by adding two new definitions in 
Section 356.10 and creating a new subchapter in Chapter 356, relating to brackish groundwater 
production zones. 
 

 









IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT 

 
 

No. 18-50994 
 
 

DAVID STRATTA; ANTHONY FAZZINO, 
 

Plaintiffs - Appellants 
 
v. 
 
JAN A. ROE, in her individual and official capacity as director of the Brazos 
Valley Groundwater Conservation District; BILLY L. HARRIS, in his 
individual and official capacity as director of the Brazos Valley Groundwater 
Conservation District; BRYAN F. RUSS, JR., in his individual and official 
capacity as director of the Brazos Valley Groundwater Conservation District; 
JAYSON BARFKNECHT, in his individual and official capacity as director of 
the Brazos Valley Groundwater Conservation District; MARK J. CARRABBA, 
in his individual and official capacity as director of the Brazos Valley 
Groundwater Conservation District; GORDON PETER BRIEN, in his official 
capacity as director of the Brazos Valley Groundwater Conservation District; 
STEPHEN C. CAST, in his individual and official capacity as director of the 
Brazos Valley Groundwater Conservation District; BRAZOS VALLEY 
GROUNDWATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT, 
 

Defendants - Appellees 
 

 
 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the Western District of Texas 

 
 
  

United States Court of Appeals 
Fifth Circuit 

FILED 
May 29, 2020 

 

Lyle W. Cayce 
Clerk 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 1     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

2 

Before JONES, SMITH, and HAYNES, Circuit Judges. 

EDITH H. JONES, Circuit Judge:

A pair of landowners sued the Brazos Valley Groundwater Conservation 

District (“BVGCD”) and its Board of Directors.  The BVGCD is a Texas political 

subdivision whose mission is to manage water resources within its two-county 

jurisdiction.  One of them contends the BVGCD has allowed the City of Bryan 

to drain groundwater from under his property without compensation, violating 

the Constitution’s Equal Protection and Takings clauses.  The other, a Board 

Member of BVGCD, alleges that the Board deprived him of First Amendment 

rights by preventing him from speaking at a public meeting.  The district court 

dismissed their claims on the grounds of Eleventh Amendment immunity, 

ripeness, Burford abstention, and qualified immunity.  Because the district 

court erred on all grounds except the dismissal of the First Amendment claim, 

we AFFIRM IN PART, REVERSE IN PART, and REMAND.1 

BACKGROUND 

Appellants Anthony Fazzino and David Stratta are landowners with 

property within the territorial boundaries of the BVGCD.  Stratta is also a 

member of the BVGCD Board of Directors.  Fazzino owns 26.65 acres of real 

property in Brazos County Texas.  Under Texas law, Fazzino also owns the 

groundwater beneath his land, including the groundwater located in the 

Simsboro aquifer.  The City of Bryan, Texas, owns a 2.7-acre tract that is less 

than 3,000 feet distant from Fazzino’s property. 

BVGCD is a Groundwater Conservation District (“GCD”) created under 

Section 59, Article XVI of the Texas Constitution and Chapter 36 of the Texas 

Water Code (“TWC”) for the purpose of managing groundwater resources.  TEX. 

 
1 Judge Haynes concurs fully in the reasoning as to the takings claim but concurs in 

the judgment only as to the class-of-one equal protection claim.  Judge Jones dissents as to 
Part III. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 2     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

3 

WATER CODE §§ 36.0015, 36.011.  GCDs are statutorily tasked with developing 

groundwater management plans that regulate the production and 

conservation of water, govern its use, study the quantity of water flowing into 

and out of the aquifers within their territory, and minimize waste.  Currently,  

nearly one hundred GCDs cover over 60 percent of the state’s land and 

encompass approximately 72 percent of major and minor aquifers.  The 

territorial boundaries of 60 GCDs coincide with a single county or less, while 

the remaining GCDs cover more than one county.  BVGCD’s boundaries are 

coextensive with Robertson and Brazos Counties. 

Pursuant to its authority under TWC Chapter 36, BVGCD promulgates 

rules governing the production of groundwater from the Simsboro formation.  

On December 2, 2004, new rules (“Rules”) took effect to regulate landowners’ 

production of groundwater by establishing three categories of wells:  

1) Existing Wells; 2) New Wells; and 3) Wells with Historic Use.  The rules 

regulate “groundwater pumpage,” i.e., how much water may be withdrawn 

from a well, through spacing requirements and production limitations. 

The spacing and production requirements are designed to “minimize as 

far as practicable the drawdown of the water table and the reduction of 

artesian pressure, to control subsidence, to prevent interference between wells, 

to prevent degradation of water quality, and to prevent waste.”  RULES OF THE 

BRAZOS VALLEY GROUNDWATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT, Rule 6.1(a) 

(published Dec. 1, 2004).2  As water is drawn from a well, it creates a “cone of 

depression” impact; when more water is withdrawn there is a larger cone of 

depression.  Rule 7.1 established maximum allowable production regulations 

for New Wells according to a formula that calculates the “total number of 

 
2 The most recent version of the Rules, amended September 12, 2019, retains that 

precise language. 
 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 3     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

4 

contiguous acres required to be assigned to the well site.”3  The definition of 

“contiguous acreage” requires that the land be “owned or legally controlled . . . 

by the well owner or operator,” and that the land “shall bear a reasonable 

reflection of the cone of depression impact near the pumped well, as based on 

the best available science” and BVGCD’s formula.  Id. at Rule 1.1(6).  The 

formula thus requires 649 contiguous acres surrounding a New Well producing 

3,000 gallons per minute (“GPM”), which equates to a circle around the well 

with a radius of 3,003 feet. 

Historic Use wells are generally limited to producing the maximum 

amount of groundwater an owner can prove was beneficially used before the 

effective date of the new Rules. Rules 1.1(16), 8.3(g). In contrast to the other 

categories, the Rules define “Existing Wells” as those wells “for which drilling 

or significant development of the well commenced before the effective date of 

these Rules.”  Id. at Rules 1.1(12).  But the Rules do not establish clear 

production limits for Existing Wells that have no established Historic Use. 

On December 8, 2004, six days after the Rules took effect, the City of 

Bryan began drilling Well No. 18 on its 2.7-acre tract of land and completed 

the well ten months later. In June 2006, the City applied for a permit to 

operate Well No. 18 at a production rate of 3,000 GPM.  BVGCD conditionally 

granted a permit authorizing production of 4,838 acre-feet annually at a rate 

of 3,000 GPM.  Subsequently, with no change in the amount of City land 

surrounding the well or the Rules’ formula, the City received an identical 

conditional permit in April 2013. 

The basis for these permits under the Rules and constitutional law is 

hotly disputed.  Because  no groundwater was pumped from the well before the 

 
3 The formula is: (the square of the product of the average annual production rate in 

gallons per minute times the District spacing requirement between wells) multiplied by pi, 
with the result divided by 43,560.  Rules 7.1(2). 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 4     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

5 

Rules were promulgated on December 2, 2004, it could not be classified as a 

Historic Use Well.  BVGCD granted the conditional permits under a 

classification of Well No. 18 as an Existing Well, although its only “existence” 

before the date of the Rules must have been in the form of “significant 

development,” at least on paper.  Appellants assert, not unreasonably, that 

Well No. 18 is a New Well; consequently, the Rule 7.1 formula would have 

capped the maximum allowable production on the City’s 2.7-acre tract at 192 

GPM.  Not only did the City’s well far exceed the Rules’ limitation on acreage-

based groundwater production for a New Well, but Fazzino’s property lies 

within 3,003 feet of Well No. 18 and therefore within its anticipated cone of 

depression.  The City’s well may threaten to dissipate Fazzino’s groundwater. 

Fazzino filed a complaint with BVGCD in January 2017, asserting that 

Well No. 18 was not a Historic Use or Existing Well and therefore must adhere 

to the production limitations imposed on New Wells.  He asked BVGCD to 

initiate proceedings to reduce Well No. 18’s authorized production.  After the 

State Office of Administrative Hearings (“SOAH”) found that Fazzino was not 

permitted to assert such a complaint, Fazzino applied for a permit to produce 

3,000 GPM  from a New Well on his 26-acre property in order to “offset” the 

production from Well No. 18.  Twice, the District advised Fazzino that his 

application was administratively incomplete without proof that he owned or 

controlled sufficient acreage—649 acres—to support production of 3,000 GPM.  

Fazzino acknowledged this deficiency, but he renewed the permit request to 

offset production from Well No. 18, and requested a variance BVGCD’s spacing 

and production rules.  Shortly afterward, BVGCD informed Fazzino both that 

his application had lapsed due to his failure to provide documentation of land 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 5     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

6 

ownership, and that BVGCD did not grant variances.4  The Rules provide no 

mechanism to obtain Board action on an administratively incomplete permit. 

Stratta is a member of the Board of Directors who became concerned by 

what he considered unequal application of the District’s Rules.  He requested 

that the agenda for the Board’s March 8, 2018 meeting include discussion of 

whether Well No. 18 was a New Well or an Existing Well.  The President of the 

Board told Stratta that no such discussion would take place because it might 

affect pending litigation.  Another board member, Russ, echoed the President’s 

view that Well No. 18 should not be discussed.  Stratta attended the March 8 

meeting, but he signed in as a member of the public and submitted a 

“Registration Form” in his capacity as a Brazos County landowner who wished 

to make a public comment on an “open” agenda item.  Specifically, Stratta 

wanted to ask the Board to include the subject of the status of Well No. 18 at 

its next meeting.  He was prohibited from voicing this small request, however, 

on the rationale that “Directors” may not discuss subjects that are not on the 

agenda, even though “Public Comment” on “non-agenda items” was specified 

as an agenda item. 

Lacking other recourse,  Fazzino sued BVGCD and its Directors in their 

individual and official capacities, alleging that their unequal application of 

BVGCD’s Rules violated his right to equal protection under the law and 

constituted a taking of his property interest in subsurface water beneath his 

 
4 Appellants dispute this conclusion, pointing out that the cities of Bryan and College 

Station, as well as Wickson Creek Special Utility District, Brazos Valley Water Supply 
Company, and OSR Water Supply Corporations, all maintain wells permitted to produce 
quantities of groundwater that would be disallowed due to inadequate tract size under 
Rules 6.1 and 7.1 without a variance from those rules.  In fact, Appellants allege that BVGCD 
consistently ignores the production limitation rules for entities, like those listed, that are led 
or owned by, or employ, present or former Directors of BVGCD.  ROA.19; Blue Br. at 5.  
Appellants, however, failed to plea specific facts—e.g. the dates when the wells were created, 
so as to establish them as “New Wells”—that would raise these allegations above being 
wholly conclusory.  ROA.19. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 6     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

7 

land.  Stratta joined the suit and alleged violation of his First Amendment 

rights.  In response, BVGCD and its Directors filed motions to dismiss under 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6).  BVGCD (hereafter, 

collectively including its Directors) moved for dismissal under 12(b)(1) for lack 

of jurisdiction because:  BVGCD is an arm of the state that enjoys Eleventh 

Amendment sovereign immunity; Fazzino failed to exhaust state court 

remedies for his takings claim; and Burford abstention is required on the 

takings claim because Texas law is unsettled as to Fazzino’s property interest 

in the groundwater.  BVGCD asserted failure to state a claim because 

Fazzino’s property interest in groundwater is not “clearly established,” his 

claims against the Directors are barred by qualified immunity, and Stratta’s 

right to speak, as a Board member, is regulated by the Texas Open Meetings 

Act (“TOMA”) and in any event not clearly established. 

The district court was persuaded by all of these arguments, granted the 

Rule 12(b)(1) dismissal without prejudice and the Rule 12(b)(6) motion with 

prejudice, and entered judgment.  This appeal followed. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

We review a district court’s dismissal orders under Rules 12(b)(1) and 

12(b)(6) de novo.  Griener v. United States, 900 F.3d 700, 703 (5th Cir. 2018); 

Meyers ex rel. Benzing v. Texas, 410 F.3d 236, 240 (5th Cir. 2005); Ysleta Del 

Sur Pueblo v. Laney, 199 F.3d 281, 285 (5th Cir. 2000).  When reviewing 

12(b)(1) dismissals, “we take the well-pled factual allegations of the complaint 

as true and view them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.”  Lane v. 

Halliburton, 529 F.3d 548, 557 (5th Cir. 2008).  Applying the same standard 

as the district court, we may consider:  “(1) the complaint alone; (2) the 

complaint supplemented by undisputed facts evidenced in the record; or (3) the 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 7     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

8 

complaint supplemented by undisputed facts plus the court’s resolution of 

disputed facts.”  Ramming v. United States, 281 F.3d 158, 161 (5th Cir. 2001). 

On appeal from a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, we consider the allegations set 

forth in the complaint and any documents attached to the complaint.  Kennedy 

v. Chase Manhattan Bank USA, NA, 369 F.3d 833, 839 (5th Cir. 2004).  A 

plaintiff’s complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, 

to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Phillips v. City of Dallas, 

Tex., 781 F.3d 772, 775–76 (5th Cir. 2015) (quoting Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 

662, 678 (2009)) (internal quotation marks omitted).  A claim is facially 

plausible if the pleaded factual content “allows the court to draw the 

reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 

(2007)). 

DISCUSSION 

Appellants filed suit under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 alleging that BVGCD 

violated Fazzino’s equal protection right and has taken his property without 

compensation, and  Stratta asserts that BVGCD violated his First Amendment 

right to  free speech.  The district court held that it lacked jurisdiction over 

claims against BVGCD because the district is an “arm of the state” immune 

from federal suits as a sovereign under the Eleventh Amendment (and its 

Directors are derivatively immune), (2) Fazzino’s takings claim was not ripe 

according to Williamson Cty. Reg’l Planning Comm’n v. Hamilton Bank of 

Johnson City,  473 U.S. 172, 186, 194 (1985), and (3) the takings claim was 

subject to Burford abstention because exactly what protectible rights Fazzino 

has in groundwater subject to regulation by BVGCD is an unsettled question 

of Texas law.  Burford v. Sun Oil Co., 319 U.S. 315 (1943).  Granting the 

Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim with prejudice, the 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 8     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

9 

court held that without clearly established rights to groundwater, Fazzino’s 

equal protection claim cannot succeed on the merits and the Directors enjoy 

qualified immunity.  Further, Stratta failed to show that BVGCD’s conduct in 

prohibiting him from speaking was objectively unreasonable in light of clearly 

established law.  We disagree with each of these conclusions. 

I. 

A. 

Taking the jurisdictional issues first, as we must, the district court 

erroneously concluded that BVGCD is an arm of the State of Texas and 

therefore immune from  suit in federal court under the Eleventh Amendment.  

Texas law counsels otherwise, and analytical inconsistencies in this circuit’s 

precedent misled the district court. 

Immunity under the Eleventh Amendment extends to any state agency 

that is deemed an “alter ego” or an “arm of the state” such that the State itself 

is the “real, substantial party in interest.”  Vogt v. Bd. Of Comm’rs, 294 F.3d 

684, 688–89 (5th Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).  

The purpose of the Eleventh Amendment is to recognize state sovereignty by 

shielding states, absent their consent or an explicit act of Congress, from 

money judgments assessed in federal court.  The Eleventh Amendment does 

not bar suit, though, “if the political entity possesses an identity sufficiently 

distinct from that of the State.”  Vogt, 294 F.3d at 689 (internal quotation 

marks omitted).  “There is no bright-line test for” ascribing Eleventh 

Amendment Immunity, but the inquiry is meant to determine whether, 

“despite the presence of a state agency as the nominal defendant,” the lawsuit 

is “effectively against the sovereign state.”  Id. 

In Clark v. Tarrant County, this court identified six important factors 

that should be weighed in this inquiry:  (1) whether the state statutes and case 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 9     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

10 

law view the agency as an arm of the state; (2) the source of funds for the entity; 

(3) the degree of local autonomy the entity enjoys; (4) whether the entity is 

concerned primarily with local, as opposed to statewide, problems; (5) whether 

the entity has the authority to sue and be sued in its own name; and 

(6) whether the entity has the right to hold and use property.  Clark v. Tarrant 

Cty., Texas, 798 F.2d 736, 744–45 (5th Cir. 1986).  While no one factor is 

dispositive, the “second Clark factor—the source of the entity’s funding—is the 

weightiest factor” because “[t]he Eleventh Amendment exists mainly to protect 

state treasuries.”  United States ex rel. Barron v. Deloitte & Touche, L.L.P., 

381 F.3d 438, 440 (5th Cir. 2004).  We consider each of the factors. 

1.  Characterization in State Law and Case Law 

“The first factor we take into account is how the state, through its 

constitution, laws, judicial opinions, attorney general’s opinions, and other 

official statements, perceives the entity in question.”  Hudson v. City of New 

Orleans, 174 F.3d 677, 683 (5th Cir. 1999).  “If the state characterizes the 

[entity] as an arm of the state, this factor is counted in favor of Eleventh 

Amendment immunity.”  Id. 

Forty years ago, the Texas Supreme Court, ruling on the question 

whether navigation districts are state agencies or political subdivisions, clearly 

distinguished between the two in three ways.  Guaranty Petroleum Corp. v. 

Armstrong, 609 S.W.2d 529, 531 (Tex. 1980).  A political subdivision has 

jurisdiction over a portion of the state, while a state agency exercises its 

jurisdiction throughout Texas.  The governing members of a political 

subdivision are elected or appointed by locally elected officials, but heads of 

state agencies are elected statewide or appointed by state officers.  And 

political subdivisions may assess and collect taxes, a power that state agencies 

lack.  The court concluded that “the legislature has consistently recognized 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 10     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

11 

these distinctions between departments, boards or agencies on the one hand 

and political subdivisions on the other.”  Id. (footnote omitted).  The navigation 

district was held to be a political subdivision. 

Guaranty Petroleum is relevant here because the navigation district was 

created, exactly like BVGCD, pursuant to Art. XVI, Section 59 of the Texas 

Constitution and, parallel to BVGCD, the navigation district is defined as a 

“district” under the Texas Water Code.  The Code defines a “District” as “any 

district or authority created under . . . Section 59, Article XVI, Texas 

Constitution, that has the authority to regulate the spacing of water wells, the 

production from water wells, or both.”  TEX. WATER CODE § 36.001(1).  Further, 

the TWC defines “political subdivision” to include “a county, municipality, or 

other body politic or corporate of the state, including a district or authority 

created under Section 52, Article III, or Section 59, Article XVI, Texas 

Constitution, a state agency, or a nonprofit water supply corporation created 

under Chapter 67.”  TEX. WATER CODE § 36.001(15).  Finally, as was the case 

with the navigation district, the BVGCD is run by officials appointed by county 

officeholders, its jurisdiction is not statewide but covers only two counties, and 

it may assess and collect taxes. 

Despite this guidance from the Texas Supreme Court, federal case law 

has diverged when analyzing the Clark factors.  To be sure, “comparisons 

[between like entities] cannot substitute for a careful examination of the 

particular entity at issue.”  Sw. Bell Tel. Co. v. City of El Paso, 243 F.3d 936, 

938 (2001) (quoting McDonald v. Board of Miss. Levee Comm’rs, 832 F.2d 901, 

908 (5th Cir. 1987)) (internal quotation marks omitted).  In Southwestern Bell, 

a water improvement district unsuccessfully claimed Eleventh Amendment 

immunity by resting on faulty precedent—from this court.  Id. at 938–39.  This 

court had to explain that pursuant to Clark, and a line of cases preceding 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 11     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

12 

Clark, an entity is not an arm of the state “simply because it is a creature of 

state law and a political subdivision of the state;” such a “conclusion would 

entirely obviate the arm-of-the-state analysis” such that “every entity claiming 

Eleventh Amendment immunity is a ‘creature’ of some state law.”  Id. at 939.  

Whether entities are created under the same law—e.g. the Texas Water Code 

or Article XVI, Section 59 of the Texas Constitution—cannot be the sole or 

sufficient factor when determining immunity.  “[S]uch a test is no test at all.”  

Id. at 940. 

Most political subdivisions, in fact, are “not entitled to Eleventh 

Amendment immunity.”  Sw. Bell, 243 F.3d at 939.  Southwestern Bell 

thoroughly criticized and rejected as fundamentally inconsistent with our 

earlier precedent  the cases that Appellees here rely on for their conclusion 

that BVGCD is an arm of the state.  See Kamani v. Port of Houston Authority, 

702 F.2d 612 (5th Cir. 1983);  Pillsbury Co. v. Port of Corpus Christi Authority, 

66 F.3d 103 (5th Cir. 1995).  The Southwestern Bell court explained that 

“Kamani was an admiralty action in which the court stated without analysis 

that the Port of Houston Authority was ‘a “creature of state law and a political 

subdivision of the State of Texas”’ entitled to Eleventh Amendment immunity,” 

and “Pillsbury was a breach-of-contract action in which the court held that the 

Port of Corpus Christi Authority was factually and legally indistinguishable 

from the Port of Houston Authority, and was thus entitled to immunity under 

Kamani”.  Sw. Bell, 243 F.3d at 938–40 (internal citations omitted).  In light of 

Southwestern Bell, those two cases may not be relied on.5 

 
5 The district court’s citation of Celanese Corp. v. Coastal Water Auth., 475 F.Supp. 2d 

623 (S.D. Tex. 2007) is also inapt. While the authority in that case (the “CWA”) was created 
pursuant to Art. XVI, Sec. 59 of the Texas Constitution to regulate water resources, the CWA 
is critically distinguishable from the instant GCD because several members of its Board are 
appointed by the governor and confirmed by the state Senate, imparting considerable direct 
state influence on its operations.  Celanese, 475 F.Supp. 2d at 634.  Moreover, unlike BVGCD,  

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 12     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

13 

The district court also relied on a Texas appellate case for the proposition 

that an underground water conservation district is “an arm of the state created 

to administer the enumerated governmental powers delegated to it.”  Lewis 

Cox & Sons, Inc. v. High Plains Underground Water Conserv. Dist. No. 1, 

538 S.W.2d 659, 662 (Tex. Civ. App.—Amarillo 1976).  But the court overlooked 

what immediately followed:  “[a]s constituted, the water district exists and 

functions as a governmental agency, a body politic and corporate, and stands 

upon the same footing as counties and other political subdivisions of the state.”  

Lewis Cox, 538 S.W.2d at 662 (internal citations omitted).  Other case law 

besides Guaranty Petroleum characterizes water management entities, like 

that in Lewis Cox, as “political subdivisions” that “stand upon the same footing 

as a county.”  South Plains Lamesa R.R., Ltd. v. High Plains Underground 

Water Conservation Dist. No. 1, 52 S.W.3d 770, 774 (Tex. App.—Amarillo 2001, 

no pet.); see also Coates v. Hall, 512 F.Supp.2d 770, 778 (W.D. Tex. 2007); 

Sullivan v. Chastain, 2005 WL 984348, at *7 (W.D. Tex. Apr. 28, 2005).  

Counties, of course, are not entitled to Eleventh Amendment immunity.  See, 

e.g., Crane v. State of Texas, 759 F.2d 412, 415 (5th Cir. 1985). 

The application of this factor has been unfortunately complicated by our 

case law, but on balance, in light of our decision in Southwestern Bell and  state 

law authority, this factor suggests BVGCD is not an arm of the state. 

2.  Source of Funding 

The second Clark factor looks at the source of BVGCD’s funding.  We 

have consistently held that the “second factor is given the greatest weight 

because one of the principal purposes of the Eleventh Amendment is to protect 

state treasuries.”  Vogt, 294 F.3d at 693; see also Cozzo v. Tangipahoa Par. 

 
the CWA has the power to operate outside of its geographic boundaries.  Act of May 17, 1967, 
60th Leg., R.S., ch. 601 Section 3, Tex. Gen. Laws 1381, 1385. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 13     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

14 

Council--President Gov’t, 279 F.3d 273, 282 (5th Cir. 2002); Hudson, 174 F.3d 

at 687 (“It bears repeating that this is the most important factor in our 

Eleventh Amendment arm of the state analysis.”).  “In assessing this second 

factor, we conduct inquiries into, first and most importantly, the state’s 

liability in the event there is a judgment against the defendant, and second, 

the state’s liability for the defendant’s general debts and obligations.”  Hudson, 

174 F.3d at 687.  “The state’s liability for a judgment is often measurable by a 

state’s statutes regarding indemnification and assumption of debts.”  Vogt, 

294 F.3d at 693.  The Texas Water Code does not explicitly render the state 

liable for judgments against GCDs or their general debts and obligations. 

GCD’s are funded by locally assessed taxes and fees.  TEXAS WATER CODE 

§§ 36.201–250.  BVGCD points out that GCDs may receive grants or loans from 

the state, TEXAS WATER CODE §§ 36.158–61, 36.3705–374, and urges that state 

funds may thus be implicated in an action against the district.  This 

observation ignores the limited statutory purposes for such infusions of state 

money.6  None of these provisions permit state funds to indemnify or assume 

the debts of BVGCD, nor is there evidence that such grants or loans have ever 

been used to satisfy a judgment. 

Indeed, the law speaks to satisfaction of judgments against a GCD in 

only one way, by an order requiring the district’s board “to levy, assess, and 

collect taxes or assessments to pay [judgments].”  TEX. WATER CODE 

§ 36.066(b).  No parallel provision references the state treasury.  On the 

contrary, in Edwards Aquifer Authority v. Bragg, the court held that the 

Edwards Aquifer Authority (“EAA”) was responsible for its permitting 

decisions and liable for any judgment.  421 S.W.3d 118, 126–131 (Tex. App.—

 
6 Some provisions strictly proscribe the use of certain funds while others are largely 

related to startup and research costs.  TEXAS WATER CODE §§ 36.158–61.  The state is under 
no obligation to provide such funding. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 14     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

15 

San Antonio 2013, pet. denied).  A judgment was later entered against the EAA 

for over $4.5 million.  The EAA satisfied this judgment in full without any 

portion being paid by the state of Texas.  And in Edwards Aquifer Authority v. 

Day, the State disclaimed takings liability for the actions of the EAA.  

369 S.W.3d 814, 821 n.24 (Tex. 2012).  In Day, the State took the position that 

a takings judgment entered against the EAA would have to be satisfied from 

the EAA’s own coffers.  Id. 

As a last resort, BVGCD relies on a provision which states, “[t]he Texas 

Water Development Board, the commission, the Parks and Wildlife 

Department, the Texas Agricultural Extension Service, and institutions of 

higher education may allocate funds to carry out the objectives of this chapter.”  

TEXAS WATER CODE § 36.160.  Coupled with the statutory statement of 

purpose—GCDs may be created “to protect property rights, balance the 

conservation and development of groundwater to meet the needs of this state, 

and use the best available science in the conservation and development of 

groundwater through rules developed, adopted, and promulgated by a 

district”—the district argues that the Texas Legislature created a mechanism 

for GCDs to obtain funding in the event of an adverse judgment.  Id. § 36.0015. 

At best, this argument suggests that state agencies may volunteer to pay 

off a judgment debt by means of a grant.7  But the second  Clark factor concerns 

whether the state is “directly responsible for a judgment” or “indemnif[ies] the 

defendant.”  Ex rel. Barron, 381 F.3d at 440.  Evaluated against the position 

that similar entities are responsible for their own judgments, this contention 

is virtually frivolous.  See Bragg, 421 S.W.3d at 130–31; Day, 369 F.3d at 821 

n.24.  In the absence of any meaningful financial relationship between GCDs 

 
7 Loans could not be used to satisfy a judgment because their statutorily stipulated 

uses are limited to start-up expenses.  TEXAS WATER CODE §§ 36.3705, 36.371–374. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 15     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

16 

and the Texas treasury, the second factor weighs heavily against finding 

Eleventh Amendment immunity. 

3.  Degree of Autonomy 

“The third factor we look to focuses on the degree of local autonomy the 

entity at issue enjoys.”  Pendergrass v. Greater New Orleans Expressway 

Comm’n, 144 F.3d 342, 346 (5th Cir. 1998).  “‘In our circuit, . . . the 

determination of an agency’s autonomy requires analysis of the “extent of the 

[entity’s] independent management authority” . . . [as well as] the 

independence of the individual commissioners’ who govern the entity.”  Vogt, 

294 F.3d at 694 (quoting Jacintoport Corp. v. Greater Baton Rouge Port 

Comm’n, 762 F.2d 435, 442 (5th Cir. 1985)).  Thus, we examine “the scope of 

the entity’s authority over its day-to-day activities” and the “appointment 

process” of its directors.  Id. at 695. 

The Code grants GCDs broad authority to “make and enforce rules” 

governing groundwater production, preservation, and usage within their 

geographic boundaries.  TEX. WATER CODE § 36.101(a).  Referring to this 

delegation, the Texas Supreme Court added that districts’ “activities remain 

under the local electorate’s supervision,” and they “have little supervision 

beyond the local level.”  Day, 369 S.W.3d at 834.  The state’s highest court has 

also observed that the localized GCD structure “permits the people most 

affected by groundwater regulation in particular areas to participate in 

democratic solutions to their groundwater issues.” Sipriano v. Great Spring 

Waters of Am., Inc., 1 S.W.3d 75, 80 (Tex. 1999).  BVGCD Directors are 

appointed by the commissioners courts of Robertson and Brazos counties, and 

are thus indirectly accountable to local constituents.  The state supreme court 

in Guaranty Petroleum associated this fact with the existence of an 

independent political subdivision.  609 S.W.2d at 531; see Pendergrass, 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 16     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

17 

144 F.3d at 347.  This court has held that local accountability evidenced 

autonomy.  McDonald v. Board of Mississippi Levee Comm’rs, 832 F.2d 901, 

907 (5th Cir. 1987).  Nevertheless, “the appointment process is given less 

weight than the scope of the entity’s authority,” Vogt, 294 F.3d at 695. 

From another perspective, the primary responsibility of GCDs is to 

develop a local groundwater management plan.  TEXAS WATER CODE 

§§ 36.0015, 36.1071.  In creating this plan, the Texas Water Development 

Board and the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality “provide technical 

assistance” and the Water Development Board must approve the plan.  

§§ 36.1071–1072.  Each GCD is obligated to “review the plan annually . . . and 

readopt the plan with or without revisions at least once every five years.”  

§ 36.1072(e). Notably, in Day, the Texas Supreme Court listed these 

interactions while still affirming the essentially local autonomy of GCDs.  Day, 

369 S.W.3d at 834. 

But in addition, the state auditor and Legislature are required to audit 

GCDs’ operations periodically.  TEXAS WATER CODE §§ 36.061, 36.302.  If the 

auditor determines that the GCD is not appropriately managing its 

groundwater, the auditor may deem the GCD non-operational and the 

Commission on Environmental Quality must take over to ensure 

comprehensive management of the district.  §§ 36.302–303; see also Guitar 

Holding Co., L.P. v. Hudspeth Cty. Underground Water Conserv. Dist. No. 1, 

263 S.W.3d 910, 913 (Tex. 2008) (the state auditor had deemed a GCD to be 

non-operational under Chapter 36).  The district court here took these 

relationships as an indication of significant state control. 

Several Fifth Circuit cases have held, however, that audit and reporting 

requirements did not justify finding a lack of local autonomy.  See Vogt, 

294 F.3d at 694–95 (holding a lack of “supervisory control over the day-to-day 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 17     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

18 

operations . . . counsels against Eleventh Amendment immunity” (quotation 

marks omitted)); Williams v. Dallas Area Rapid Transit, 242 F.3d 315, 321 (5th 

Cir. 2001) (“audit requirements are some evidence of state oversight, but they 

are not dispositive with respect to the issue of local control”); McDonald, 

832 F.2d at 907 (Levee Board’s obligation to make an annual report to the 

governor did not outweigh its predominately autonomous actions).  It is not 

clear whether any of these cases involved a situation where, as with GCDs, the 

statutory oversight can and has resulted in the state’s exerting control over the 

entity. 

When these facts are considered together, the degree of local control and 

potential state intervention at most merely offset each other. 

4.  Scope of Activity 

The fourth factor “properly centers on ‘whether the entity acts for the 

benefit and welfare of the state as a whole or for the special advantage of local 

inhabitants.’”  Dallas Area Rapid Transit, 242 F.3d at 321 (quoting 

Pendergrass, 144 F.3d at 347).  “Limited territorial boundaries suggest that an 

agency is not an arm of the state,” and “most entities that are entitled to 

Eleventh Amendment immunity have statewide jurisdiction.”  Vogt, 294 F.3d 

at 695. 

This inquiry is largely geographic.  In Vogt, the court held that even 

though flooding is a statewide problem, the levee board acted for the “special 

advantage of local inhabitants,” and its powers “may be exercised only within 

clearly defined territorial limits.”  Id.  And in Hudson, the court “found it highly 

useful to examine the geographic reach of the [entity’s] powers.”  174 F.3d at 

690.  In Celanese, however, it was an indication of statewide interest that the 

CWA was authorized to take significant actions inside and outside its 

territorial limits.  475 F.Supp.2d at 634. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 18     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

19 

BVGCD’s legal boundaries are coextensive with the boundaries of 

Robertson and Brazos Counties.  TEX. SPECIAL DIST. LOC’L LAWS CODE 

§ 8835.004.  Groundwater conservation districts are authorized to exercise 

their authority only within their territorial boundaries.  True, GCDs are 

expected to coordinate with each other and the Texas Water Development 

Board, Day, 369 S.W.3d at 834, but there is no evidence that these entities 

operate in conjunction for the “benefit and welfare of the state as a whole.”  

Vogt, 294 F.3d at 695.  Appellees’ contention that water conservation is 

“undeniably a statewide concern” is unavailing because the scope of authority 

rather than the scope of concern is controlling. The fourth factor cuts against 

BVGCD’s entitlement to Eleventh Amendment immunity. 

5.  Remaining Factors 

Both parties and the district court agree that the remaining factors—the 

authority to sue and be sued in its own name and the right to hold and use 

property—weigh against granting immunity.  See TEX. WATER CODE §§ 36.251, 

36.105. 

On balance, five of the six Clark factors weigh against finding BVGCD is 

an arm of the state of Texas for which Eleventh Amendment immunity is 

appropriate.  Most important, funds from the Texas treasury will not be used 

to satisfy a judgment against the entity.  The Directors are likewise not entitled 

to assert such immunity.  The district court erred in dismissing the 

landowners’ action for lack of jurisdiction on this basis. 

B. 

Relying on Williamson Cty. Reg’l Planning Comm’n v. Hamilton Bank of 

Johnson City, 473 U.S. 172 (1985), the district court dismissed Fazzino’s 

takings claims as unripe because he had neither received a final decision 

regarding the application of the challenged regulations nor sought 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 19     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

20 

compensation for the alleged taking in state courts.  This holding has become 

moot after the Supreme Court overturned Williamson County.  In Knick v. 

Twp. Of Scott, 139 S. Ct. 2162 (2019), the Court held that “the property owner 

has suffered a violation of his Fifth Amendment rights when the government 

takes his property without just compensation, and therefore may bring his 

claim in federal court under § 1983 at that time.”  Id. at 2168 (emphasis added).  

Further, “[t]he availability of any particular compensation remedy, such as an 

inverse condemnation claim under state law, cannot infringe or restrict the 

property owner’s federal constitutional claim.”  Id. at 2171.  The Court then 

explicitly disavowed Williamson County and its state litigation requirement:  

“Williamson County was not just wrong.  Its reasoning was exceptionally ill 

founded and conflicted with much of our takings jurisprudence.”  Id. at 2178. 

Based on Knick, Fazzino’s takings claim is ripe for adjudication because 

Fazzino fully pursued the administrative remedies available to him before 

filing this action. 

C. 

The district court held Fazzino’s takings claim subject to Burford 

abstention, but the following analysis will also necessarily apply to the equal 

protection claim that is not barred by Eleventh Amendment immunity.  “[W]e 

review an abstention ruling for abuse of discretion, but ‘we review de novo 

whether the requirements of a particular abstention doctrine are satisfied.’”  

Aransas Project v. Shaw, 775 F.3d 641, 648 (5th Cir. 2014) (quoting Romano v. 

Greenstein, 721 F.3d 373, 380 (5th Cir. 2013)).  Because the exercise of 

discretion must fit within the specific limits prescribed by the particular 

abstention doctrine invoked, “[a] court necessarily abuses its discretion when 

it abstains outside of the doctrine’s strictures.”  Webb v. B.C. Rogers Poultry, 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 20     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

21 

Inc., 174 F.3d 697, 701 (5th Cir.1999); see also Texas Ass’n of Bus. v. Earle, 

388 F.3d 515, 518 (5th Cir. 2004). 

Burford abstention is an “extraordinary and narrow exception to the 

duty of the District Court to adjudicate a controversy properly before it.”  

Quackenbush v. Allstate Ins. Co., 517 U.S. 706, 728, 116 S. Ct. 1712, 1727 

(1996).  “Burford allows a federal court to dismiss a case only if it presents 

‘difficult questions of state law bearing on policy problems of substantial public 

import whose importance transcends the result in the case then at bar,’ or if 

its adjudication in a federal forum ‘would be disruptive of state efforts to 

establish a coherent policy with respect to a matter of substantial public 

concern.’”  Id. at 726–27, 116 S. Ct. at 1726.  The decision to exercise Burford 

abstention must be weighed against federal courts’ “virtually unflagging 

obligation . . . to exercise the jurisdiction given them” by Congress.  Colorado 

River Water Cons. Dist. v. United States, 424 U.S. 800, 821, 96 S. Ct. 1236, 

1248 (1976). 

Burford itself involved a suit to enjoin the enforcement of an order of the 

Texas Railroad Commission, which at that time enforced a detailed regulatory 

scheme involving complicated oil and gas issues.  Burford, 319 U.S. at 325–26, 

63  S. Ct. at 1103.  The Court admonished that federal courts should be 

reluctant to get involved in inherently local matters involving the management 

of state interests covered by a complex regulatory scheme, where the inevitable 

result would be “[d]elay, misunderstanding of local law, and needless federal 

conflict with the State policy.”  Id. at 327, 63 S. Ct. at 1104. 

Five factors govern a federal court’s decision whether to abstain under 

Burford:  “(1) whether the cause of action arises under federal or state law; 

(2) whether the case requires inquiry into unsettled issues of state law or into 

local facts; (3) the importance of the state interest involved; (4) the state’s need 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 21     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

22 

for a coherent policy in that area; and (5) the presence of a special state forum 

for judicial review.”  Aransas Project v. Shaw, 775 F.3d 641, 649 (5th Cir. 2014) 

(quoting Wilson v. Valley Elec. Membership Corp., 8 F.3d 311, 314 (5th Cir. 

1993)).  The district court cited this standard correctly and found that all five 

factors militated in favor of abstention.  We disagree. 

The court had to acknowledge that because Fazzino’s § 1983 claims 

allege constitutional violations, the first factor is satisfied in favor of federal 

jurisdiction.  See Romano v. Greenstein, 721 F.3d 373, 380 (5th Cir. 2013).  But 

it joined this factor with the second factor and found the “unsettled  issue” “that 

state courts, including the Texas Supreme Court, have been wrestling with for 

years,” as having to do with the applicability of Texas oil and gas common law 

to groundwater regulation by GCDs.  As will be seen in the next section, we do 

not view this case in the same overgeneralized terms and find Fazzino’s claims 

sufficiently precise under federal and state law to move forward.  In the 

briefest terms, the Texas Supreme Court reaffirmed in Day that groundwater 

is owned in place by the surface landowner, and the EAA’s  (and by necessary 

implication, GCDs’) regulatory provision affording landowners a “fair share” of 

groundwater confers property rights that may be enforced in takings law and 

under doctrines of equal protection.  Day, 369 S.W.3d at 830.  In this highly 

analogous context, it is no extension of state law to echo Day’s conclusion.8 

Regarding the third factor, “[t]he regulation of water resources is . . . a 

matter of great state concern.”  Sierra Club v. City of San Antonio, 112 F.3d 

789, 794 (5th Cir. 1997).  In light of the severe droughts that periodically strike 

 
8 The cases cited by the district court in favor of abstention for similar issues of 

“unsettled state law” predate Day and thus are of little support.  See Williamson v. Guadalupe 
Cty. Groundwater Cons. Dist., 343 F.Supp.2d 580 (W.D. Tex. 2004);  Coates v. Hall, 
512 F.Supp.2d 770, 780 (W.D. Tex. 2007) (“[T]he Texas Supreme Court has not addressed the 
scope of a landowner[’]s cognizable property interest in groundwater beneath their [sic] land.” 
(quotation marks omitted)). 

 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 22     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

23 

the state and the anticipated growth in Texas’s water needs, the state’s 

interest is only increasing.9  This factor favors abstention to the extent that, 

unlike our decisions in Aransas Project and Romano, there is no strong, 

countervailing federal interest.  Aransas Project, 775 F.3d at 651; Romano, 

721 F.3d at 380. Nevertheless, the relief Fazzino seeks diminishes the 

importance of this factor.  In contrast to Sierra Club, in which the plaintiff 

sought to enjoin the EAA to reduce groundwater withdrawals, and Wilson, 

where the plaintiff sought refunds for unconstitutional rate increases on behalf 

of a class, Fazzino  asks that BVGCD simply apply its rules equally to 

landowners within its purview or provide adequate compensation to him. 

Compare Sierra Club, 112 F.3d at 798 with Wilson, 8 F.3d at 313.  His lawsuit 

therefore poses little threat to the general state interest. 

The fourth factor looks at the state’s need for a coherent policy in 

regulating groundwater.  This factor “is intended to avoid recurring and 

confusing federal intervention in an ongoing state scheme.”  Wilson, 8 F.3d at 

315.  But Burford “does not require abstention whenever there exists [complex 

state administrative processes], or even in all cases where there is a potential 

for conflict with state regulatory law or policy.”  NOPSI v. Council of City of 

New Orleans, 491 U.S. 350, 362, 109 S. Ct. 2506, 2515 (1989) (quotation marks 

omitted).  Nor would a federal judgment here interfere with the coherence of 

state policy.  GCDs are designed to be decentralized and fragmentary in order 

to offer local control over groundwater resources.  There are roughly 100 GCDs 

in Texas, but nearly two-thirds of them oversee territory coextensive with a 

single county.  Each GCD designs and implements its own rules under a 

 
9 The Texas House Committee on Natural Resources observed, “[i]n recent years . . . 

severe drought coupled with a growing population has caused pressure to grow on 
groundwater resources.”  H. Comm. on Nat. Res., Interim Rpt. 84th Leg. at 15 (Tex. Jan 
2015). “What was once used mainly in times of emergency, is fast becoming the preferred 
method of water supply in this state.” Id. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 23     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

24 

general legislative framework subject ultimately to the local electorate.  The 

existence of some coordination and state oversight does not transform a 

decentralized system of regulation into a comprehensive one, nor does 

Fazzino’s lawsuit threaten this regulatory scheme any more than a takings 

judgment secured by the Braggs against EAA.  Bragg, 421 S.W.3d at 131.  This 

factor weighs against abstention. 

Finally, we consider the state forum for judicial review.  GCD decisions 

are reviewed in state court.  Those lawsuits are filed against local GCDs, not a 

state agency, and maintained in the county where the district is located.  TEX. 

WATER CODE § 36.251.  Accordingly, “there is no special state forum for judicial 

review.”  Romano, 721 F.3d at 380. 

The BVGCD is no Texas Railroad Commission, and the federal court 

should not have abstained from the constitutional issues raised by Fazzino.  

The claims do not delve into unduly complex issues of state law, the state 

concerns that are implicated are not overriding in light of the remedy sought,  

no state law would  be usurped by  a federal decision, and statewide processes 

or regulatory regimes would not be disrupted.  The district court abused its 

discretion in deciding to abstain under Burford. 

II. 

Having rejected the jurisdictional objections to this litigation, we turn to 

the merits.  The district court dismissed Fazzino’s takings and equal protection 

claims because it believed that they rested on unsettled questions about the 

application of oil and gas law to the landowner’s rights in the groundwater 

beneath his property.  As we noted above, this formulation of Fazzino’s claim 

is at too high a level of generality.  BVGCD’s briefing compounds this error by 

asserting that to adopt Fazzino’s position would require the federal court to 

completely assimilate Texas oil and gas law to groundwater regulation.  This 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 24     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

25 

position is disavowed by Fazzino, unnecessary to adjudicate here, and amounts 

to a bright red herring. 

It is correct, however, that Fazzino’s rights as a property owner are a 

creature of state law.  Thus, his property rights constitute whatever he has 

that the BVGCD may not constitutionally “take” without compensation, and 

they provide the baseline by which to determine whether he has been treated 

“unequally” by the district vis a vis the City’s permit.  Fortunately, Texas law 

is not unsettled as to the landowner’s basic rights.  The Texas Supreme Court 

plainly held in Day that a landowner’s property rights include the ownership 

of groundwater in place beneath his acreage, and such ownership right is 

subject to takings claims.  The court stated at the outset that it would decide 

“in this case whether land ownership includes an interest in groundwater in 

place that cannot be taken for public use without adequate compensation 

guaranteed [by the Texas Constitution].  We hold that it does.”  Day, 

369 S.W.3d at 817.  Further, as the court recognized, the TWC reinforces its 

conclusion by providing that “[n]othing in this code shall be construed as 

granting the authority to deprive or divest a landowner . . . of the groundwater 

ownership and rights described by this section.”  TEXAS WATER CODE 

§ 36.002(c).  With a cogent observation, the court rebuffed an argument, rather 

like BVGCD’s argument here, that groundwater rights by their nature are “too 

inchoate” to merit constitutional protection:  the intolerable extreme of that 

argument would allow a regulator to deprive the property owner of all his 

groundwater rights.  Day, 369 S.W.3d at 832–33.  The court instead restated 

that “[g]roundwater rights are property rights subject to constitutional 

protection, whatever difficulties may lie in determining adequate 

compensation for a taking.”  Id. at 833. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 25     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

26 

What is “unsettled” about Day’s interpretation of the common law and 

statutory rights of groundwater owners?  Indeed, it is BVGCD, not Fazzino, 

that would “unsettle” Texas law by asking the federal court essentially to 

reconsider Day and dramatically reduce the constitutional rights of 

landowners to the groundwater in place. 

Neither the state Supreme Court nor the legislature is blind to 

differences between groundwater and oil and gas reserves that may require 

legal distinctions to be drawn.  See, e.g., id. at 830–31, 840–41.  Still, the court 

has explained, “[c]ommon law rules governing mineral and groundwater 

estates are not merely similar; they are drawn from each other or from the 

same source.”  Coyote Lake Ranch v. City of Lubbock, 498 S.W. 3d 53, 64 (Tex. 

2016).  This common parentage led the court in Day to analogize the correlative 

rights as between landowners in common subsurface reservoirs, whether of 

minerals or water, as being recognized both at common law and more 

particularly through state regulation that  “afford[s] landowners their fair 

share of the groundwater beneath their property.” Day, 369 S.W.3d at 830; see 

also Elliff v. Texon Drill. Co., 210 S.W.2d 558, 562-63 (Tex. 1949). 

Notably, the  TWC “requires groundwater districts to consider several 

factors in permitting groundwater production, among them the proposed use 

of water, the effect on the supply and other permittees, [and] a district’s 

approved management plan.” Day, 369 S.W.3d at 841 (citing TEXAS WATER 

CODE § 36.113(d)(2)–(4)).  Affording groundwater owners their fair share “must 

take into account factors other than surface area,” the historic metric for an oil 

and gas owner’s fair share.  Id.  But concerning Fazzino’s takings claim, it 

seems highly pertinent, notwithstanding the statutory list of factors, that 

BVGCD opted for Rules based on spacing and production limits plus the 

water’s proposed or historic use.  Fazzino’s allegation is that by permitting the 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 26     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

27 

City of Bryan to drain water from an area with a 3003 ft. radius, far outside 

its surface ownership and including surface area of Fazzino’s property, the 

BVGCD has “taken” his groundwater in place without compensation.  The task 

of the district court will be to assess, as the state supreme court did in Day, 

whether the groundwater scheme effectuated by BVGCD’s Rules promulgated 

in December 2004 has resulted in a taking of Fazzino’s interest.  Id. at 838.  

That this task may be challenging is not the same as concluding it is infeasible.  

See Bragg, 421 S.W.3d at 153 (affirming judgment against the Authority for 

“taking” of landowners’ property). 

Likewise, Fazzino’s equal protection claim alleges sufficiently that 

BVGCD unequally applied its Rules by treating municipalities, like the City of 

Bryan, as exempt from the production limits required by the  Rules’ surface 

area formula while rigorously enforcing those limits against Fazzino.  The 

district court discussed this claim only in terms of qualified immunity for the 

Board, and in that respect held that Fazzino’s right to equal protection, if any, 

was not clearly established because GCDs have broad discretionary authority 

in framing and implementing groundwater production rules.  The court 

dismissed the Board members for failure to state a claim on this basis.  In light 

of our rejection of BVGCD’s jurisdictional objections, and the preceding 

discussion of Fazzino’s property rights, this analysis is wanting. 

A class-of-one equal protection claim is based on two factors: whether the 

plaintiff was “intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated,” 

and whether there was a “rational basis” for this difference.  Village of 

Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000); Lindquist v. City of Pasadena, 

669 F.3d 225, 233 (5th Cir. 2012). 

Lindquist disavowed any precise formula to determine whether a 

plaintiff is similarly situated to comparators, holding instead that “the full 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 27     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

28 

variety of factors that an objectively reasonable . . . decisionmaker would have 

found relevant” must be considered.  669 F.3d at 234.  Further, “the plaintiff’s 

and comparators’ relationships with the ordinance at issue will generally be a 

relevant characteristic for purposes of the similarly-situated analysis.”  Id.  

Pertinent here, when creating rules, GCDs must consider “groundwater 

ownership and rights”; “the public interest”; and “develop rules that are fair 

and impartial.”  TEX. WATER CODE § 36.101(a)(2)–(4).  Day held  that one 

purpose of regulating groundwater is ensuring that owners in a common 

reservoir receive their fair share.  Day, 369 S.W.3d at 840.  BVGCD implicitly 

accepted this position by setting groundwater production limits based on a 

spacing and production formula.  Thus, Fazzino’s equal protection claim is not 

judged against the backdrop of “unsettled” questions of Texas law, but against 

the precise regulations enacted and enforced by BVGCD in this case. 

Fazzino alleges that BVGCD intentionally treated the City differently in 

two ways.  First, the district mischaracterized Well No. 18 as an Existing Well 

although it was not completed for ten months after the Rules were 

promulgated.  Fazzino contends the well had to be a New Well under the 

district’s Rules and therefore subject to its spacing and production limits.  The 

Texas Supreme Court rejected a similar misapplication of a GCD’s regulations 

that deviated from the district’s enabling statute in Guitar Holding Co. v. 

Hudspeth Cty. Underground Water Cons. Dist. No. 1, 263 S.W.3d 910, 917–18 

(Tex. 2008).  Additionally, Fazzino alleges, BVGCD ignored its land ownership, 

spacing and production limits for Well No. 18 while enforcing them rigorously 

against him.  The results of the preference for the City’s well are dramatic.  

Based on its land ownership, the City’s well should have been limited to 

pumping 192 GPM, not 3000 GPM as authorized, and its annual production 

should have been about 315 acre-feet, not 4,838 as authorized by BVGCD.  In 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 28     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

29 

contrast, the district agreed to permit Fazzino  a New Well under Rule 7.1 for 

192 GPM and 315 acre-feet per year based on his 26-acre tract. 

Fazzino additionally asserts there was no rational basis for the district’s 

differential treatment of him, and he implies the intentionality of the district’s 

efforts based on its preference for, and the relations of its Board members to, 

the cities within the BVGCD. These allegations of disparity and intentional 

conduct are sufficient to require further development rather than dismissal on 

the pleadings.  Because neither BVGCD nor its Board was required to respond 

on the merits, the substance of these allegations must be tested in discovery 

and further proceedings.  For now, the court’s Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal  must be 

reversed as to all defendants. 

III.10 

Stratta insufficiently pleaded that BVGCD and its Board of Directors 

(collectively, “Defendants”) violated Stratta’s First Amendment right to free 

speech.  Given Stratta’s status as a member of the Board, he was governed by 

the Texas Open Meetings Act (“TOMA”).  As such, he did not have the same 

rights as the “public” under the particular circumstances.  We therefore affirm 

the district court’s judgment dismissing Stratta’s First Amendment claims. 

Stratta’s First Amendment claim revolves around TOMA’s notice 

requirement, TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN. § 551.041, and its notice exception 

provision, id. § 551.042.  We have already upheld TOMA as a constitutional, 

content-neutral time, place, or manner restriction on an individual’s First 

Amendment right.  Asgeirsson v. Abbott, 696 F.3d 454, 462 (5th Cir. 2012).11  

 
10 Judge Smith and Judge Haynes join Part III in full.  Judge Jones writes separately 

in dissent. 
 
11 Because free speech restrictions under TOMA do not violate the First Amendment, 

free speech cases that arise under TOMA are distinguishable from free speech cases that do 
not.  As such, cases holding that a governmental body violated a member’s First Amendment 
right to free speech for non-TOMA reasons are inapplicable here.  See, e.g., Wilson v. Hous. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 29     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

30 

Thus, if TOMA prohibited Stratta from requesting during the Board meeting’s 

public comment period on non-agenda items that the Board add a topic to the 

next meeting’s agenda, then Stratta’s First Amendment rights were not 

violated when he was barred “as a member of the public” from saying whatever 

he wanted at the Board meeting. 

A governmental body, such as the Board, must give written notice before 

each meeting.  Id. § 551.041.  But such notice is not required in one instance: 

(a) If, at a meeting of a governmental body, a member of the 
public or of the governmental body inquires about a subject for 
which notice has not been given as required by this subchapter, 
the notice provisions of this subchapter do not apply to: 

(1) a statement of specific factual information given in 
response to the inquiry; or 

(2) a recitation of existing policy in response to the 
inquiry. 
(b) Any deliberation of or decision about the subject of the 

inquiry shall be limited to a proposal to place the subject on the 
agenda for a subsequent meeting. 

Id. § 551.042.  This exemption does not permit Stratta, as a member of a 

governmental body, to place an unnoticed issue before the Board.12 

The exemption’s “purpose is to authorize a governmental body to make 

a limited response to an inquiry about a subject not included on the posted 

notice and to prevent it from engaging in ‘deliberation’ or making a ‘decision’ 

about the subject matter of the inquiry.”  Hays Cty. Water Planning P’ship v. 

Hays Cty., 41 S.W.3d 174, 181 (Tex. App.—Austin 2001, pet. denied); see also 

Tex. Att’y Gen. Op. No. JC-169 (2000), at 5. 

 
Cmty. Coll. Sys., 935 F.3d 490, 497–500 (5th Cir. 2020), petition for reh’g filed, Case No. 19-
20237 (5th Cir. April 7, 2020) (holding that a governmental body’s censure of one of its 
members for violating its bylaws was an unlawful restriction on the member’s free speech 
rights). 

12 Stratta himself thought so because he signed in as a “member of the public” to make 
this point. 

 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 30     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

31 

TOMA provides this exemption because “public comment sessions 

provide an opportunity for citizens to speak their minds on an unlimited 

variety of subjects” and a governmental body cannot be expected “to divine or 

foresee the myriad of matters its constituents wish to bring to its attention.”  

Tex. Att’y Gen. Op. No. JC-169, at 4.  Section 551.042 provides an outlet for a 

governmental body to address the public’s concerns without violating the 

notice provision of § 551.041: instead, it may place the subject on the agenda 

for a future meeting.  TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN. § 551.042; accord id. § 551.041 

(requiring written notice before a meeting); id. § 551.001(4)(A) (stating that a 

deliberation is a type of “meeting”).  It does not allow a member of a 

governmental body to bypass the notice requirements of TOMA by introducing 

a subject that has not been the subject of proper written notice during the 

public comment period of a meeting.  Indeed, the court in Hays County held 

that a member of the governmental body in that case could not rely on 

§ 551.042 to circumvent the notice requirement when the member “was not 

responding to an inquiry.”13  41 S.W.3d at 181.  Similarly, Stratta was not 

responding to an inquiry; he was making one.  Thus, the exemption does not 

apply.14 

 
13 The dissent states that Hays County is distinguishable for a number of reasons.  But 

none of those stated reasons mattered to the court’s exemption determination.  See Hays Cty., 
41 S.W.3d at 181.  The only fact that mattered was whether the member of the governmental 
body was responding to an inquiry; he was not.  Id.  Thus, the exemption in § 551.042 did not 
apply.  Id. 

 
14 The dissenting opinion would hold that § 551.042 permits Stratta “solely to place a 

proposal before the Board that the issue be taken up at a future meeting” because “[i]t is not 
determinative . . . whether Stratta was ‘a member of the public or of the governmental body.’”  
Aside from the fact that Stratta presents his issue as based upon his status as a member of 
the public, the Texas appellate court’s holding in Hays County does not support this 
interpretation of § 551.042.  See Hays Cty., 41 S.W.3d at 181.  When evaluating issues of state 
law, if there is no final decision on the issue by the state’s highest court, we “defer to 
intermediate state appellate court decisions, unless convinced by other persuasive data that 
the highest court of the state would decide otherwise.”  Temple v. McCall, 720 F.3d 301, 307 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 31     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

32 

In his brief, Stratta acknowledges that he “intended to make a public 

comment requesting that the Board include the subject of the status of Well 

No. 18 on its next agenda,” and that the “Board prevented Stratta from making 

the request on the basis that they feared it would violate TOMA’s notice 

requirements.” 

Although, he disagreed with this analysis, he acknowledges it.  Thus, 

Stratta’s argument is based upon his contention that he inquired as a “member 

of the public.”  At the meeting, he signed in as a member of the public.  His 

brief states his appellate issue as: “Does Stratta have a clearly established 

right to address the board of directors as a member of the public during a period 

reserved for public comment on open agenda items?”  Addressing this “member 

of the public” contention, the answer is clearly “no.”  “Member of the public” is 

not defined in TOMA, or any other Texas statute.  See TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN. 

§ 551.001; Austin Bulldog v. Leffingwell, 490 S.W.3d 240, 245 (Tex. App.—

Austin 2016, no pet.) (stating that no Texas statute has defined “member of the 

public”).  Texas courts have thus looked to the plain and common meaning of 

the term while considering its context.  See Leffingwell, 490 S.W.3d at 245; 

accord TGS-NOPEC Geophysical Co. v. Combs, 340 S.W.3d 432, 441 (Tex. 

2011).  “When ‘member of the public’ is used in conjunction with an identified 

or identifiable group . . . as it is here with ‘governmental body’ its meaning 

is contextually modified to mean a person who does not belong to the identified 

group.”  Leffingwell, 490 S.W.3d at 246.  Stratta is a BVGCD Board member.  

He thus is not a “member of the public” when he attends a BVGCD meeting. 

Stratta cannot bypass TOMA’s notice requirement by attending a Board 

meeting as a “member of the public.”  TOMA does not allow for such action 

 
(5th Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  We thus defer to the Texas 
appellate court’s interpretation of § 551.042.  Federal courts should be reluctant to interfere 
in a city council’s conclusion about what Texas law means in contradiction to Texas case law. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 32     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

33 

because Stratta is a Board member.  TOMA is designed to protect the public 

by making open meetings, including notice of what will be discussed at the 

meetings, the norm.  TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN. §§ 551.002, .041.  In other words, 

it is designed to protect the public from Board member violations, not to allow 

Board members to circumvent its requirements by calling themselves 

“members of the public.”  As a “member of the public,” a panel member could 

appear in the town square and endorse a candidate for public office.  But as 

federal judges, we are barred from doing so.  See ADMIN. OFFICE OF U.S. 

COURTS, CODE OF CONDUCT FOR UNITED STATES JUDGES, Canon 5(a)(2) (2019); 

see also MODEL CODE OF JUDICIAL CONDUCT Canon 4 (AM. BAR ASS’N 2010).  

Even candidates for judge are subject to limitations that “members of the 

public” are not.  Cf. Williams-Yulee v. Fla. Bar, 575 U.S. 433, 437 (2015).  A 

“member of the public” could comment on a pending criminal trial, but a juror 

in the case could not.  See United States v. Albert, 595 F.2d 283, 290 (5th Cir. 

1979) (prohibiting prejudicial private communications between jurors and 

third persons); Chambliss v. State, 633 S.W.2d 678, 682 (Tex. App.—El Paso 

1982), aff’d, 647 S.W.2d 257 (Tex. Crim. App. 1983) (stating the same).  The 

list goes on.  Thus, whatever Stratta’s rights otherwise may be, they were 

overcome by his status as a Board member, and the Board correctly prevented 

Stratta from speaking at the meeting.15   

In accordance with TOMA’s notice requirement, the Board notified the 

public that the March 8, 2015, meeting would include a public comment period 

on open agenda items.  TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN. § 551.041.  That agenda item 

was limited to comments by the public, of which Stratta was not included.  

 
15 As a result, there is no need to address the qualified immunity issue.  But, assuming 

arguendo that the dissenting opinion is correct that there was a First Amendment violation, 
of course, we agree that Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity on that claim. 

 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 33     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

34 

Stratta thus was not permitted under § 551.042 to raise a new topic as an 

agenda item in a future meeting during the existing meeting.  Accordingly, we 

affirm the district court’s judgment dismissing Stratta’s First Amendment 

claims.16 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the judgment dismissing 

Stratta’s First Amendment claim; REVERSE the dismissal of BVGCD for lack 

of jurisdiction, and REVERSE and REMAND the judgment dismissing all 

other claims and defendants. 

AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED IN PART, and REMANDED. 

 

 
16 The district court dismissed Plaintiffs’ official-capacity claims against Defendants 

for lack of jurisdiction and their individual-capacity claims as barred by qualified immunity.  
However, “[w]e are free to uphold the district court's judgment on any basis that is supported 
by the record.”  Zuspann v. Brown, 60 F.3d 1156, 1160 (5th Cir. 1995). 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 34     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

35 

 

EDITH H. JONES, Circuit Judge, dissenting in part: 

I respectfully dissent from the majority’s conclusion that Stratta was not 

permitted under § 551.042(a)-(b) to inquire about a new subject for the limited 

purpose of placing that subject on the agenda for a subsequent meeting.  These 

provisions specify that if “a member of the public or of the governmental body 

inquires about a subject for which notice has not been given,” then “[a]ny 

deliberation of or decision about the subject shall be limited to a proposal to 

place the subject on the agenda for a subsequent meeting.” (Emphasis added). 

The majority hold that (1) Stratta could not make an “inquiry” as a member of 

the governmental body, and (2) Stratta was not permitted to attend the Board 

meeting as a “member of the public.”  The plain text of the statute contravenes 

the first conclusion and renders the second conclusion superfluous.  By limiting 

the response to an inquiry by a member of the governmental body to placing 

that subject on a subsequent meeting agenda, the statute presupposes the 

permissibility of such an inquiry by a member of the governmental body.1 

 
1 Statutory regulation of a response to an activity short of prohibition presupposes 

that the activity is permissible.  The majority does not engage with this principle of statutory 
interpretation.  Instead, my colleagues rely on Hays Cty. Water Planning P’ship v. Hays Cty., 
Texas, 41 S.W.3d 174 (Tex. App. 2001), for the proposition that an elected official could not 
rely on § 551.042 to circumvent the notice requirements when the member “was not 
responding to an inquiry.”  Id. at 181.  The majority omits the pertinent second half of that 
quotation, however.  In full, the court stated that the commissioner “was not responding to 
an inquiry by either a member of the public or a colleague on the commissioners court,” 
implying once again that a member of the governmental body may make an inquiry.  Id.  In 
fact, the court held that “551.042 is clear and unambiguous and relates to ‘inquiries’ from 
members of the public or the governmental body.”  Id. 

Furthermore, Hays Cty. is distinguishable on numerous grounds.  The central holding 
of Hays Cty. is that a commissioner gave a “presentation” for which notice was insufficiently 
given.  Id.  The commissioner’s remarks went far beyond getting an item placed on the agenda 
for a subsequent meeting.  And the argument that the commissioner appeared as a member 
of the public was not even raised until litigation; indeed, the commissioner did not even 
attempt to speak during the public comment period.  Id. at 176–77, 181.  By contrast, Stratta 
signed into the meeting as a member of the public, attempted to speak during the public 
comment period, and intended only to inquire about the status of Well No. 18. 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 35     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

36 

 

Stratta made his request at the meeting either as a member of the 

governmental body or as a member of the public.  Because he would have been 

permitted to inquire about placing the status of Well No. 18 on a future agenda 

in either capacity, it is not determinative under this statute whether he was “a 

member of the public or of the governmental body.”  Id.  Section 551.042(a)-(b) 

expressly supports Stratta’s strategy to place a proposal before the Board, 

which it was then required to debate, solely as to whether to take up this issue 

at a future meeting. 

The purpose of TOMA is to guarantee openness in the operation of public 

bodies by reducing non-public discussion and deliberations and giving the 

public access to their activities.  The Board members here, however, are 

interpreting TOMA to stifle and discriminate against “open” discussion of 

whether an important issue should be placed on an open meeting agenda.  Yet 

“[i]t is axiomatic that the government may not regulate speech based on its 

substantive content or the message it conveys.”  Rosenberger v. Rector & 

Visitors of Univ. of Virginia, 515 U.S. 819, 828, 115 S. Ct. 2510, 2516 (1995).   

Stratta’s pleading makes a plausible argument that TOMA was applied here 

in a viewpoint discriminatory fashion.  The Board members, sued in their 

official capacity, should be required to defend against Stratta’s charge. 

 Nonetheless, I would affirm the district court’s conclusion that the 

Board members are qualifiedly immune in their individual capacities from 

liability for any violation of Stratta’s First Amendment rights.  The district  

court theorized they could have reasonably believed that denying him the right 

to speak in the public comment period of the meeting was sanctioned by TOMA.   

Under TOMA, a board may place items on an agenda for public discussion but 

may not discuss those items in advance.  TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN. § 551.041.  The 

district court interpreted this section to mean that if Stratta had debated with 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 36     Date Filed: 05/29/2020



No. 18-50994 

37 

 

fellow Board members whether to discuss the status of Well No. 18 in the 

upcoming meeting, they had foreknowledge of his views such that taking them 

up during the public comment session would have failed the law’s notice 

requirement.  The court relied on a Texas Attorney General opinion stating 

that “the use of ‘public comment’ or similar term will not provide adequate 

notice if the governmental body is, prior to the meeting, aware or reasonably 

should have been aware, of specific topics to be discussed.”  Op. Tex. Att’y Gen. 

No. JC169 (2000) at 3–4. 

For purposes of qualified immunity, the court’s analysis suffices.  

“Qualified immunity protects all but the plainly incompetent or those who 

knowingly violate the law.”  Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 638 (1987) 

(quotation marks omitted). 

In sum, I would affirm the court’s grant of qualified immunity to the  

individual Board members but remand Stratta’s claim for a First Amendment 

violation against the Board members in their official capacity. 

 

      Case: 18-50994      Document: 00515433679     Page: 37     Date Filed: 05/29/2020





Last year's tax rate:
1 Last year's operating taxes 
2 Last year's debt taxes 
3 Last years total taxes
4 Last year's tax base $2,191,019,324
5 Last year's total tax rate 0.02070 /$100

 This year's effective tax rate:
6 last year adjusted tax values $2,182,685,714
7 Last year's adjusted taxes $452,342

(after subtracting taxes on lost property)
8 : This year's adjusted tax base $2,225,089,199

(after subtracting value of new property
9  =This year's effective tax rate(no new revenue tax rate) 0.020329 /$100

(Maximum rate unless unit publishes notices and holds hearings) 

This year's rollback tax rate:
10 Last years adjusted operating taxes $452,342

(after subtracting taxes on lost property and adjusting for any 
transferred function, tax increment financing, state criminal justice 
mandate, and/or enhanced indigent healthcare expenditures)

11  -  This year's adjusted tax base $2,225,089,199 /$100
12  -This year's effective operating rate(no new revenue tax rate) 0.020329 /$100
13  x 1.08 - this year's maximum operating rate  (voter approved tax rate) 0.021955 /$100

 - This year's debt rate $0 /$100
14  = This year's total rollback rate (voter approved tax rate) 0.021955 /$100

Statement of Increase/Decrease
If Brush Country Groundwater Conservation District adopts a 2020 tax rate equal to the 
effective tax rate of $0.020329 per $100 value, taxes would increase compared to 2019 taxes 

by $5,343

Schedule A - Unencumbered Fund Balance
The following estimated balances will be left in the unit's property tax accounts at the end of 
the fiscal year. These balances are not encumbered by a corresponding debt obligation
Type of Property Tax Fund Balance Balance
General Fund $574,254

Schedule B - 2020 Debt Service
The unit plans to pay the following amounts for long-term debts that are secured by properly 
taxes. These amounts will be paid from property tax revenues (or additional sales tax revenues, 
if applicable).

Principal or Contract interest to be Other Amounts
Description of Debt Payment to be Paid Paid from to be Paid Total Payment

from Property Taxes Property Taxes
None $0 $0 $0 0

Total required for 2020 debt service 
 - Amount (if any) paid from Schedule A 
 - Amount Of any) paid front other resources 
 - Excess collections last year 

$453,541
$0

$453,541



 = Total to be paid from taxes in 2019 
 - Amount added in anticipation that the unit will
collect only 100.00% of its taxes in 2020  

 = Total debt levy 
Name of person preparing this notice:  Felix Saenz
Title: General Manager
Date Prepared:  8/25/2020



Form 50-8562020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet
Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts

____________________________________________________________________________   ________________________________
Taxing Unit Name Phone (area code and number)

____________________________________________________________________________   ________________________________
Taxing Unit’s Address, City, State, ZIP Code Taxing Unit’s Website Address

 
GENERAL INFORMATION: Tax Code Section 26.04(c) requires an officer or employee designated by the governing body to calculate the no-new-revenue (NNR) tax rate and 
voter-approval tax rate for the taxing unit. These tax rates are expressed in dollars per $100 of taxable value calculated. The calculation process starts after the chief appraiser 
delivers to the taxing unit the certified appraisal roll and the estimated values of properties under protest. The designated officer or employee shall certify that the officer or 
employee has accurately calculated the tax rates and used values shown for the certified appraisal roll or certified estimate. The officer or employee submits the rates to the 
governing body by Aug. 7 or as soon thereafter as practicable.

School districts do not use this form, but instead use Comptroller Form 50-859 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet, School District without Chapter 313 Agreements or Comptroller Form 
50-884 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet, School District with Chapter 313 Agreements.

Water districts as defined under Water Code Section 49.001(1) do not use this form, but instead use Comptroller Form 50-858 Water District Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet for 
Low Tax Rate and Developing Districts or Comptroller Form 50-860 Developed Water District Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet.

The Comptroller’s office provides this worksheet to assist taxing units in determining tax rates. The information provided in this worksheet is offered as technical assistance and not 
legal advice. Taxing units should consult legal counsel for interpretations of law regarding tax rate preparation and adoption.

SECTION 1: No-New-Revenue Tax Rate
The NNR tax rate enables the public to evaluate the relationship between taxes for the prior year and for the current year based on a tax rate that would produce the same amount 
of taxes (no new taxes) if applied to the same properties that are taxed in both years. When appraisal values increase, the NNR tax rate should decrease.

The NNR tax rate for a county is the sum of the NNR tax rates calculated for each type of tax the county levies.

While uncommon, it is possible for a taxing unit to provide an exemption for only maintenance and operations taxes. In this case, the taxing unit will need to calculate the NNR tax 
rate separately for the maintenance and operations tax and the debt tax, then add the two components together.

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

1. 2019 total taxable value. Enter the amount of 2019 taxable value on the 2019 tax roll today. Include any adjustments since last year’s certification; 
exclude Tax Code Section 25.25(d) one-fourth and one-third over-appraisal corrections from these adjustments. Exclude any property value subject 
to an appeal under Chapter 42 as of July 25 (will add undisputed value in Line 6). This total includes the taxable value of homesteads with tax ceil-
ings (will deduct in Line 2) and the captured value for tax increment financing (will deduct taxes in Line 17).1 $ _____________

2. 2019 tax ceilings. Counties, cities and junior college districts. Enter 2019 total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings. These include the 
homesteads of homeowners age 65 or older or disabled. Other taxing units enter 0. If your taxing unit adopted the tax ceiling provision in 2019 
or a prior year for homeowners age 65 or older or disabled, use this step.2

$ _____________

3. Preliminary 2019 adjusted taxable value. Subtract Line 2 from Line 1. $ _____________

4. 2019 total adopted tax rate. $ __________/$100

5.

A. Original 2019 ARB values: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2019 values resulting from final court decisions:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. 2019 value loss. Subtract B from A.3
$ _____________

6.

A. 2019 ARB certified value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2019 disputed value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. 2019 undisputed value. Subtract B from A. 4
$ _____________

7. 2019 Chapter 42 related adjusted values. Add Line 5 and Line 6. $ _____________

2019 taxable value lost because court appeals of ARB decisions reduced 2019 appraised value.

2019 taxable value subject to an appeal under Chapter 42, as of July 25.

1  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(14)
2  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(14)
3  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
4  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)

Form developed by: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, Property Tax Assistance Division For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax
50-856 • 07-20/7

comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

 

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

8. 2019 taxable value, adjusted for actual and potential court-ordered adjustments. Add Line 3 and Line 7. $ _____________

9. 2019 taxable value of property in territory the taxing unit deannexed after Jan. 1, 2019. Enter the 2019 value of property in deannexed 
territory. 5

$ _____________

10.

A. Absolute exemptions. Use 2019 market value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Partial exemptions. 2020 exemption amount or 2020 percentage exemption 
times 2019 value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Value loss. Add A and B. 6
$ _____________

11.

A. 2019 market value:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2020 productivity or special appraised value: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

C. Value loss. Subtract B from A. 7
$ _____________

12. Total adjustments for lost value. Add Lines 9, 10C and 11C. $ _____________

13. Adjusted 2019 taxable value. Subtract Line 12 from Line 8. $ _____________

14. Adjusted 2019 total levy. Multiply Line 4 by Line 13 and divide by $100. $ _____________

15. Taxes refunded for years preceding tax year 2019. Enter the amount of taxes refunded by the taxing unit for tax years preceding tax year 
2019. Types of refunds include court decisions, Tax Code Section 25.25(b) and (c) corrections and Tax Code Section 31.11 payment errors. Do not 
include refunds for tax year 2019. This line applies only to tax years preceding tax year 2019. 8

$ _____________

16. Taxes in tax increment financing (TIF) for tax year 2019. Enter the amount of taxes paid into the tax increment fund for a reinvestment zone 
as agreed by the taxing unit. If the taxing unit has no 2020 captured appraised value in Line 18D, enter 0. 9

$ _____________

17. Adjusted 2019 levy with refunds and TIF adjustment. Add Lines 14, and 15, subtract Line 16. 10
$ _____________

18.

A. Certified values:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. Counties: Include railroad rolling stock values certified by the Comptroller’s office: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Pollution control and energy storage system exemption: Deduct the value of property exempted 
for the current tax year for the first time as pollution control or energy storage system property: . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

D. Tax increment financing: Deduct the 2020 captured appraised value of property taxable by a taxing 
unit in a tax increment financing zone for which the 2020 taxes will be deposited into the tax increment 
fund. Do not include any new property value that will be included in Line 23 below. 12 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   - $ _____________

E. Total 2020 value. Add A and B, then subtract C and D. $ _____________

2019 taxable value lost because property first qualified for an exemption in 2020. If the taxing unit increased an original exemption, use 
the difference between the original exempted amount and the increased exempted amount. Do not include value lost due to freeport, goods-
in-transit, temporary disaster exemptions. Note that lowering the amount or percentage of an existing exemption in 2020 does not create a new 
exemption or reduce taxable value.

2019 taxable value lost because property first qualified for agricultural appraisal (1-d or 1-d-1), timber appraisal, recreational/scenic 
appraisal or public access airport special appraisal in 2020. Use only properties that qualified in 2020 for the first time; do not use proper- 
ties that qualified in 2019.

Total 2020 taxable value on the 2020 certified appraisal roll today. This value includes only certified values or certified estimate of values 
and includes the total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings (will deduct in Line 20). These homesteads include homeowners age 65 or 
older or disabled. 11

5  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
6  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
7  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(15)
8  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
9  Tex. Tax Code § 26.03(c)
10  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(13)
11  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012, 26.04(c-2)
12  Tex. Tax Code § 26.03(c)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 2

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

 

Line No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

19.

A. 2020 taxable value of properties under protest. The chief appraiser certifies a list of properties still 
under ARB protest. The list shows the appraisal district’s value and the taxpayer’s claimed value, if any, 
or an estimate of the value if the taxpayer wins. For each of the properties under protest, use the lowest 
of these values. Enter the total value under protest. 14. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2020 value of properties not under protest or included on certified appraisal roll. The chief 
appraiser gives taxing units a list of those taxable properties that the chief appraiser knows about but 
are not included in the appraisal roll certification. These properties also are not on the list of properties 
that are still under protest. On this list of properties, the chief appraiser includes the market value, 
appraised value and exemptions for the preceding year and a reasonable estimate of the market value, 
appraised value and exemptions for the current year. Use the lower market, appraised or taxable value 
(as appropriate). Enter the total value of property not on the certified roll. 15 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   + $ _____________

C. Total value under protest or not certified. Add A and B. $ _____________

20. 2020 tax ceilings. Counties, cities and junior colleges enter 2020 total taxable value of homesteads with tax ceilings. These include the home- 
steads of homeowners age 65 or older or disabled. Other taxing units enter 0. If your taxing unit adopted the tax ceiling provision in 2019 or a 
prior year for homeowners age 65 or older or disabled, use this step.16

$ _____________

21. 2020 total taxable value. Add Lines 18E and 19C. Subtract Line 20. 17 $ _____________

22. Total 2020 taxable value of properties in territory annexed after Jan. 1, 2019. Include both real and personal property. Enter the 2020 
value of property in territory annexed. 18

$ _____________

23. Total 2020 taxable value of new improvements and new personal property located in new improvements. New means the item was 
not on the appraisal roll in 2019. An improvement is a building, structure, fixture or fence erected on or affixed to land. New additions to exist-
ing improvements may be included if the appraised value can be determined. New personal property in a new improvement must have been 
brought into the taxing unit after Jan. 1, 2019 and be located in a new improvement. New improvements do include property on which a tax 
abatement agreement has expired for 2020. 19

$ _____________

24. Total adjustments to the 2020 taxable value. Add Lines 22 and 23. $ _____________

25. Adjusted 2020 taxable value. Subtract Line 24 from Line 21. $ _____________

26. 2020 NNR tax rate. Divide Line 17 by Line 25 and multiply by $100. 20
$ __________/$100

27. COUNTIES ONLY. Add together the NNR tax rates for each type of tax the county levies. The total is the 2020 county NNR tax rate. 21
$ __________/$100

Total value of properties under protest or not included on certified appraisal roll. 13

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

28. 2019 M&O tax rate. Enter the 2019 M&O tax rate. $ __________/$100

29. 2019 taxable value, adjusted for actual and potential court-ordered adjustments. Enter the amount in Line 8 of the No-New-Revenue Tax 
Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

SECTION 2: Voter-Approval Tax Rate
The voter-approval tax rate is the highest tax rate that a taxing unit may adopt without holding an election to seek voter approval of the rate. The voter-approval tax rate is split 
into two separate rates:

1. Maintenance and Operations (M&O) Tax Rate: The M&O portion is the tax rate that is needed to raise the same amount of taxes that the taxing unit levied in the prior year 
plus the applicable percentage allowed by law. This rate accounts for such things as salaries, utilities and day-to-day operations.

2. Debt Rate: The debt rate includes the debt service necessary to pay the taxing unit’s debt payments in the coming year. This rate accounts for principal and interest on bonds 
and other debt secured by property tax revenue.

The voter-approval tax rate for a county is the sum of the voter-approval tax rates calculated for each type of tax the county levies. In most cases the voter-approval tax rate 
exceeds the no-new-revenue tax rate, but occasionally decreases in a taxing unit’s debt service will cause the NNR tax rate to be higher than the voter-approval tax rate.

13  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(c) and (d)
14  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(c)
15  Tex. Tax Code § 26.01(d)
16  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(6)(B)
17  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(6)
18  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(17)
19  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(17)
20  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
21  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(d)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 3

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

30. Total 2019 M&O levy. Multiply Line 28 by Line 29 and divide by $100 $ _____________ 

31.

A. 2019 sales tax specifically to reduce property taxes. For cities, counties and hospital districts,
enter the amount of additional sales tax collected and spent on M&O expenses in 2019, if any. 
Other taxing units, enter 0. Counties must exclude any amount that was spent for economic 
development grants from the amount of sales tax spent.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  + $ _____________

B. M&O taxes refunded for years preceding tax year 2019. Enter the amount of M&O taxes
refunded in the preceding year for taxes before that year. Types of refunds include court decisions,
Tax Code Section 25.25(b) and (c) corrections and Tax Code Section 31.11 payment errors. Do not 
include refunds for tax year 2019. This line applies only to tax years preceding tax year 2019. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  + $ _____________

C. 2019 taxes in TIF. Enter the amount of taxes paid into the tax increment fund for a reinvestment
zone as agreed by the taxing unit. If the taxing unit has no 2020 captured appraised value in 
Line 18D, enter 0. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

D. 2019 transferred function. If discontinuing all of a department, function or activity and
transferring it to another taxing unit by written contract, enter the amount spent by the taxing 
unit discontinuing the function in the 12 months preceding the month of this calculation. If the 
taxing unit did not operate this function for this 12-month period, use the amount spent in the last 
full fiscal year in which the taxing unit operated the function. The taxing unit discontinuing the function
will subtract this amount in E below. The taxing unit receiving the function will add this amount in 
E below. Other taxing units enter 0.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  +/- $ _____________

E. 2019 M&O levy adjustments. Add A and B, then subtract C. For taxing unit with D, subtract if
discontinuing function and add if receiving function. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

F. Add Line 30 to 31E. $ _____________

32. Adjusted 2020 taxable value. Enter the amount in Line 25 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

33. 2020 NNR M&O rate (unadjusted). Divide Line 31F by Line 32 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

34.

A. 2020 state criminal justice mandate. Enter the amount spent by a county in the previous 12 months
providing for the maintenance and operation cost of keeping inmates in county-paid facilities after they 
have been sentenced. Do not include any state reimbursement received by the county for the same purpose.  $ _____________

B. 2019 state criminal justice mandate. Enter the amount spent by a county in the 12 months prior to
the previous 12 months providing for the maintenance and operation cost of keeping inmates in 
county-paid facilities after they have been sentenced. Do not include any state reimbursement received 
by the county for the same purpose. Enter zero if this is the first time the mandate applies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

35.

A. 2020 indigent health care expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a taxing unit providing for the
maintenance and operation cost of providing indigent health care for the period beginning on 
July 1, 2019 and ending on June 30, 2020, less any state assistance received for the same purpose. . . . . . . . .   $ _____________

B. 2019 indigent health care expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a taxing unit providing for
the maintenance and operation cost of providing indigent health care for the period beginning 
on July 1, 2018 and ending on June 30, 2019, less any state assistance received 
for the same purpose.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ __________/$100

D. Enter the rate calculated in C. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

Adjusted 2019 levy for calculating NNR M&O rate.

Rate adjustment for state criminal justice mandate. 23

Rate adjustment for indigent health care expenditures. 24

22  [Reserved for expansion]
23  Tex. Tax Code § 26.044
24  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0442

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 4

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

 

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

36.

A. 2020 indigent defense compensation expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a county to 
provide appointed counsel for indigent individuals for the period beginning on July 1, 2019 and 
ending on June 30, 2020, less any state grants received by the county for the same purpose.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

B. 2019 indigent defense compensation expenditures. Enter the amount paid by a county to 
provide appointed counsel for indigent individuals for the period beginning on July 1, 2018 and 
ending on June 30, 2019, less any state grants received by the county for the same purpose. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ _____________

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

D. Multiply B by 0.05 and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100

E. Enter the lessor of C and D. If not applicable, enter 0. $ __________/$100

$ _____________

$ _____________

$ __________/$100

$ __________/$100

$ __________/$100

$ __________/$100

$ __________/$100

37.

A. 2020 eligible county hospital expenditures. Enter the amount paid by the county or municipality 
to maintain and operate an eligible county hospital for the period beginning on July 1, 2019 and 
ending on June 30, 2020. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

B. 2019 eligible county hospital expenditures. Enter the amount paid by the county or municipality 
to maintain and operate an eligible county hospital for the period beginning on July 1, 2018 and 
ending on June 30, 2019. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

C. Subtract B from A and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

D. Multiply B by 0.08 and divide by Line 32 and multiply by $100.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

E. Enter the lessor of C and D, if applicable. If not applicable, enter 0.

38. Adjusted 2020 NNR M&O rate. Add Lines 33, 34D, 35D, 36E, and 37E.

39. 2020 voter-approval M&O rate. Enter the rate as calculated by the appropriate scenario below.

A. Debt also includes contractual payments to other taxing units that have incurred debts on behalf 
of this taxing unit, if those debts meet the four conditions above. Include only amounts that will be 
paid from property tax revenue. Do not include appraisal district budget payments.

Enter debt amount.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ _____________

B. Subtract unencumbered fund amount used to reduce total debt. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

C. Subtract certified amount spent from sales tax to reduce debt (enter zero if none) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

D. Subtract amount paid from other resources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  – $ _____________

E. Adjusted debt. Subtract B, C and D from A. $ _____________

Rate adjustment for county indigent defense compensation. 25

Rate adjustment for county hospital expenditures. 26

40.

Special Taxing Unit. If the taxing unit qualifies as a special taxing unit, multiply Line 38 by 1.08.
- or -
Other Taxing Unit. If the taxing unit does not qualify as a special taxing unit, multiply Line 38 by 1.035.
- or -
Taxing unit affected by disaster declaration. If the taxing unit is located in an area declared as disaster area, the governing body may 
direct the person calculating the voter-approval rate to calculate in the manner provided for a special taxing unit. The taxing unit shall 
continue to calculate the voter-approval rate in this manner until the earlier of 1) the second year in which total taxable value on the 
certified appraisal roll exceeds the total taxable value of the tax year in which the disaster occurred, and 2) the third tax year after the tax 
year in which the disaster occurred. If the taxing unit qualifies under this scenario, multiply Line 38 by 1.08. 27

Total 2020 debt to be paid with property taxes and additional sales tax revenue. Debt means the interest and principal that will be paid 
on debts that:

(1) are paid by property taxes,
(2) are secured by property taxes,
(3) are scheduled for payment over a period longer than one year, and
(4) are not classified in the taxing unit’s budget as M&O expenses.

25  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0442
26  Tex. Tax Code § 26.0443
27  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c-1)
28  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(10) and 26.04(b)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 5

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

 

Line Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

41. Certified 2019 excess debt collections. Enter the amount certified by the collector. 28
$ _____________

42. Adjusted 2020 debt. Subtract Line 41 from Line 40E. $ _____________

44. 2020 debt adjusted for collections. Divide Line 42 by Line 43E. $ _____________

45. 2020 total taxable value. Enter the amount on Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

46. 2020 debt rate. Divide Line 44 by Line 45 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

47. 2020 voter-approval tax rate. Add Lines 39 and 46. $ __________/$100

48. COUNTIES ONLY. Add together the voter-approval tax rates for each type of tax the county levies. The total is the 2020 county voter-approval 
tax rate. $ __________/$100

43.

A. Enter the 2020 anticipated collection rate certified by the collector. 29 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

B. Enter the 2019 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

C. Enter the 2018 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

D. Enter the 2017 actual collection rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ____________%

E. If the anticipated collection rate in A is lower than actual collection rates in B, C and D, enter the lowest 
collection rate from B, C and D. If the anticipated rate in A is higher than at least one of the rates in the 
prior three years, enter the rate from A. Note that the rate can be greater than 100%. 30

____________%

50. Estimated sales tax revenue. Counties exclude any amount that is or will be spent for economic development grants from the amount of esti-
mated sales tax revenue. 33

Taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2019 or in May 2020. Multiply the amount on Line 49 by the sales tax rate (.01, 
.005 or .0025, as applicable) and multiply the result by .95. 34

- or -
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax before November 2019. Enter the sales tax revenue for the previous four quarters. Do not 
multiply by .95. $ _____________

51. 2020 total taxable value. Enter the amount from Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

52. Sales tax adjustment rate. Divide Line 50 by Line 51 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

53. 2020 NNR tax rate, unadjusted for sales tax.35 Enter the rate from Line 26 or 27, as applicable, on the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

54. 2020 NNR tax rate, adjusted for sales tax.
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2019 or in May 2020. Subtract Line 52 from Line 53. Skip to Line 55 if you 
adopted the additional sales tax before November 2019. $ __________/$100

Line Additional Sales and Use Tax Worksheet Amount/Rate

49. Taxable Sales. For taxing units that adopted the sales tax in November 2019 or May 2020, enter the Comptroller’s estimate of taxable sales for 
the previous four quarters. 32 Estimates of taxable sales may be obtained through the Comptroller’s Allocation Historical Summary webpage.
Taxing units that adopted the sales tax before November 2019, skip this line. $ _____________

2020 anticipated collection rate.

SECTION 3: NNR Tax Rate and Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustments for Additional Sales Tax to Reduce Property Taxes
Cities, counties and hospital districts may levy a sales tax specifically to reduce property taxes. Local voters by election must approve imposing or abolishing the additional sales 
tax. If approved, the taxing unit must reduce its NNR and voter-approval tax rates to offset the expected sales tax revenue.
This section should only be completed by a county, city or hospital district that is required to adjust its NNR tax rate and/or voter-approval tax rate because it adopted the 
additional sales tax.

29  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(b)
30  Tex. Tax Code §§ 26.04(h), (h-1) and (h-2)
31  [Reserved for expansion]
32  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(d)
33  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(i)
34  Tex. Tax Code § 26.041(d)
35  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)
36  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 6

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

 

Line Additional Sales and Use Tax Worksheet Amount/Rate

55. 2020 voter-approval tax rate, unadjusted for sales tax.36 Enter the rate from Line 47 or 48, as applicable, of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate 
Worksheet. $ __________/$100

56. 2020 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for sales tax. Subtract Line 52 from Line 55. $ __________/$100

Line Voter-Approval Rate Adjustment for Pollution Control Requirements Worksheet Amount/Rate

57. Certified expenses from the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). Enter the amount certified in the determination letter 
from TCEQ. 37 The taxing unit shall provide its tax assessor-collector with a copy of the letter. 38 $ _____________

58. 2020 total taxable value. Enter the amount from Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

59. Additional rate for pollution control. Divide Line 57 by Line 58 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

60. 2020 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for pollution control. Add Line 59 to one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 47, Line 48 
(counties) or Line 56 (taxing units with the additional sales tax). $ __________/$100

Line Unused Increment Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

61. 2019 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2019 actual tax rate and the 2019 unused increment rate from the 2019 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. If the year is prior to 2020, enter zero. $ __________/$100

62. 2018 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2018 actual tax rate and the 2018 unused increment rate from the 2018 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. If the year is prior to 2020, enter zero. $ __________/$100

63. 2017 unused increment rate. Subtract the 2017 actual tax rate and the 2017 unused increment rate from the 2017 voter-approval tax rate. If 
the number is less than zero, enter zero. If the year is prior to 2020, enter zero. $ __________/$100

64. 2020 unused increment rate. Add Lines 61, 62 and 63. $ __________/$100

65. 2020 voter-approval tax rate, adjusted for unused increment rate. Add Line 64 to one of the following lines (as applicable): Line 47, Line 48 
(counties), Line 56 (taxing units with the additional sales tax) or Line 60 (taxing units with pollution control). $ __________/$100

Line De Minimis Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

66. Adjusted 2020 NNR M&O tax rate. Enter the rate from Line 38 of the Voter-Approval Tax Rate Worksheet $ __________/$100

SECTION 4: Voter-Approval Rate Adjustment for Pollution Control
A taxing unit may raise its rate for M&O funds used to pay for a facility, device or method for the control of air, water or land pollution. This includes any land, structure, building, 
installation, excavation, machinery, equipment or device that is used, constructed, acquired or installed wholly or partly to meet or exceed pollution control requirements. The 
taxing unit’s expenses are those necessary to meet the requirements of a permit issued by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). The taxing unit must provide 
the tax assessor with a copy of the TCEQ letter of determination that states the portion of the cost of the installation for pollution control.

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that uses M&O funds to pay for a facility, device or method for the control of air, water or land pollution.

SECTION 5: Voter-Approval Tax Rate Adjustment for Unused Increment Rate
The unused increment rate is the rate equal to the difference between the adopted tax rate and voter-approval tax rate before the unused increment rate for the prior three years. 39 In 
a year where a taxing unit adopts a rate by applying any portion of the unused increment rate, the unused increment rate for that year would be zero.

For each tax year before 2020, the difference between the adopted tax rate and voter-approval rate is considered zero, therefore the unused increment rate for 2020 is zero. 40

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that does not meet the definition of a special taxing unit. 41

SECTION 6: De Minimis Rate
The de minimis rate is the rate equal to the sum of the no-new-revenue maintenance and operations rate, the rate that will raise $500,000, and the current debt rate for a taxing unit. 42

This section should only be completed by a taxing unit that is a municipality of less than 30,000 or a taxing unit that does not meet the definition of a special taxing unit. 43

37  Tex. Tax Code § 26.045(d)
38  Tex. Tax Code § 26.045(i)
39  Tex. Tax Code § 26.013(a)
40  Tex. Tax Code § 26.013(c)
41  Tex. Tax Code § 26.063(a)(1)
42  Tex. Tax Code § 26.012(8-a)
43  Tex. Tax Code § 26.063(a)(1)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 7

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


2020 Tax Rate Calculation Worksheet – Taxing Units Other Than School Districts or Water Districts Form 50-856

 

Line De Minimis Rate Worksheet Amount/Rate

67. 2020 total taxable value. Enter the amount on Line 21 of the No-New-Revenue Tax Rate Worksheet. $ _____________

68. Rate necessary to impose $500,000 in taxes. Divide $500,000 by Line 67 and multiply by $100. $ __________/$100

69. 2020 debt rate. Enter the rate from Line 46 of the Voter- Approval Tax Rate Worksheet. $ __________/$100

70. De minimis rate. Add Lines 66, 68 and 69. $ __________/$100

SECTION 7: Total Tax Rate

Indicate the applicable total tax rates as calculated above.

No-new-revenue tax rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100 
As applicable, enter the 2020 NNR tax rate from: Line 26, Line 27 (counties), or Line 54 (adjusted for sales tax).

Voter-approval tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100 
As applicable, enter the 2020 voter-approval tax rate from: Line 47, Line 48 (counties), Line 56 (adjusted for sales tax), 
Line 60 (adjusted for pollution control), or Line 65 (adjusted for unused increment).

De minimis rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ __________/$100 
If applicable, enter the de minimis rate from Line 70.

SECTION 8: Taxing Unit Representative Name and Signature

Enter the name of the person preparing the tax rate as authorized by the governing body of the taxing unit. By signing below, you certify that you are the designated officer or 
employee of the taxing unit and have calculated the tax rates in accordance with requirements in Tax Code. 44

 ____________________________________________________________
Printed Name of Taxing Unit Representative

 ____________________________________________________________  ________________________________________
Taxing Unit Representative Date

44  Tex. Tax Code § 26.04(c)

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 8

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


(name of governing body) (name of taxing unit) 

 PROPOSED TAX RATE  

 NO-NEW-REVENUE TAX RATE 

 VOTER-APPROVAL  TAX RATE  

 

 

 

 

per $100  

per $100

per $100 

ear that will raise the sa

 

   
 

 

  

  

   

  

Form 50-883 

Statements required in notice if the proposed tax rate does not exceed the lower of the no-new-revenue tax rate or the voter-approval tax rate, 
as prescribed by Tax Code §26.061. 

Form 50-880NOTICE OF MEETING TO VOTE 
ON TAX RATE 

A tax rate of $_________________________________ per $100 valuation has been proposed by the governing body of 

__________________________________________________ . 

$ ___________________

$ _ __________________

$ _ __________________

The no-new-revenue tax rate is the tax rate for the _______________________________ tax y me amount 
(current tax year) 

of property tax revenue for __________________________________________________ from the same properties in both 
(name of taxing unit) 

the ________________________ tax year and the _______________________ tax year. 
(preceding tax year) (current tax year) 

The voter-approval rate is the highest tax rate that __________________________________________ may adopt without holding 
(name of taxing unit) 

an election to seek voter approval of the rate. 

The proposed tax rate is not greater than the no-new-revenue tax rate. This means that ___________________________ is not 
(name of taxing unit) 

proposing to increase property taxes for the _________________ tax year. 
(current tax year) 

A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED TAX RATE WILL BE HELD ON _______________________________ 
(date and time) 

at __________________________________________________________________________________. 
(meeting place) 

The proposed tax rate is also not greater than the voter-approval tax rate. As a result, __________________________ is not 
(name of taxing unit) 

required to hold an election to seek voter approval of the rate. However, you may express your support for or opposition to the 

proposed tax rate by contacting _______________________________ of ____________________________________ at their 

offices or by attending the public meeting mentioned above. 

YOUR TAXES OWED UNDER ANY OF THE TAX RATES MENTIONED ABOVE CAN BE CALCULATED AS FOLLOWS: 

Property tax amount = ( tax rate ) x ( taxable value of your property ) / 100 

(List names of all members of the governing body below, showing how each voted on the proposal to consider the tax increase or, if one or more were absent, indicating absences.) 

FOR the proposal: 

AGAINST the proposal: 

PRESENT and not voting: 

ABSENT: 

Form developed by: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, Property Tax Assistance Division For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax 
50-883 • Rev.5-20 

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax


(name of taxing unit) 

(name of taxing unit) 

(telephone number) 

(telephone number) 

(internet website address) 

(name of taxing unit) 

(name of taxing unit) 

(email address) 

(email address) 

Notice of Meeting to Vote on Tax Rate Form 50-883

For additional copies, visit: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax Page 2   

 

 

 

 

The 86th Legislature modified the manner in which the voter-approval tax rate is calculated to limit the rate of growth of property 
taxes in the state. 

The following table compares the taxes imposed on the average residence homestead by __________________________ last year 

to the taxes proposed to the be imposed on the average residence homestead by ________________________________ this year. 

2019 2020 Change 

Total tax rate (per 2019 adopted tax 2020 proposed tax (Increase/Decrease) of (nominal difference 
$100 of value) rate rate between tax rate for preceding year and 

proposed tax rate for current year) per $100, 
or (percentage difference between tax rate 
for preceding year and proposed tax rate for 
current year)% 

Average 2019 average 2020 average (Increase/Decrease) of (percentage 
homestead taxable taxable value taxable value difference between average taxable value 
value of residence 

homestead 
of residence 
homestead 

of residence homestead for preceding year 
and current year)% 

Tax on average 2019 amount of 2020 amount of (Increase/Decrease) of (nominal difference 
homestead taxes on average 

taxable value 
of residence 
homestead 

taxes on average 
taxable value 
of residence 
homestead 

between amount of taxes imposed on 
the average taxable value of a residence 
homestead in the preceding year and the 
amount of taxes proposed on the average 
taxable value of a residence homestead in 
the current year), or (percentage difference 
between taxes imposed for preceding year 
and taxes proposed for current year)% 

Total tax levy on 2019 levy (2020 proposed (Increase/Decrease) of (nominal difference 
all properties rate x current total 

value)/100 
between preceding year levy and proposed 
levy for current year), or (percentage 
difference between preceding year levy and 
proposed levy for current year)% 

(If the tax assessor for the taxing unit maintains an internet website) 

For assistance with tax calculations, please contact the tax assessor for __________________________________________ 

at _____________________________ or ______________________________, or visit ______________________________ 

for more information. 

(If the tax assessor for the taxing unit does not maintain an internet website) 

For assistance with tax calculations, please contact the tax assessor for __________________________________________ 

at _____________________________ or ______________________________. 



INVESTMENT REPORT

Brush Country GCD 4/1/2020  -- 6/30/2020

Investment Financial Maturity Avg. Beginning Deposits Debits Ending Period

Institution Date Yield Balance Balance earnings

Operating Account FNBFAL Daily 2.63% 60,714.74 94,892.62 81,374.95 74,232.41 330.4

  Checking Acct.

Tax Account FNBFAL Daily 2.63% 464,731.70 21,625.81 94,482.09 391,875.42 2,867.73

   Checking Acct

Reserve Acct FNBFAL Daily 2.63% 1,799,944.42 11,692.80 0.00 1,811,637.22 11,692.80

 

total FNBFAL Accounts 2,325,390.86 128,211.23 175,857.04 2,277,745.05 14,890.93

purchased CD 1/25/18 Greater Tx Bank CD 1/23/2019 1.60% 253,096.47 253,096.47 Cd plus 3,081.81 cashed in on 2/27/2020 and deposted in 

FNBFAL Reserve Acct

Totals

FNBFAL Financial Security Pledges  as of February 19, 2019

CUSIP maturity date CUSIP pledge amt

912828W63 3/15/2020 $0 this $600,000 pledge canceled by FNBFAL when it matured

3133EKBW5 2/27/2024 $850,000

313371U79 12/11/2020 $1,000,000

3130AEWA4  10/1/2020 $900,000

total $2,750,000

The investment transactions of this period comply with the investment policy of the Brush Country Cons. District and the Public Investment Act.

This investment report is presented to the BCGCD Board of Directors at a meeting held on:

Report Prepared By

Felix Saenz, General Manager

Investment Officer

For the period

8/25/2020

8/25/2020

Date













 
 

August 2020 Legislative Report 

Robert Howard 

 

 

Elections 

 

In our area, the three state legislators who face general election challengers in November are Senators 

Chuy Hinojosa and Judith Zaffirini and Rep. Ryan Guillen. All are ramping up their fundraising and 

campaign planning efforts. 

 

Interim Charges 

 

On August 1st, Lyle Larson, Chair of the House Natural Resources Committee, put out a notice that said 

his committee will be taking written testimony on interim charges. The deadline for submitting 

testimony is September 25th. I think that our main participation will be in concert with TAGD, but I am 

happy to work with our staff and legal and hydrological experts if there is a desire for BCGCD to submit 

our own testimony on any topic. Our main areas of interest would be: 

 

- HB 720, which relates to appropriations of water for recharge of aquifers and use in aquifer 

storage and recovery projects. The Committee is charged with monitoring the rulemaking 

process for the permitting of unappropriated flows for aquifer storage and recovery projects by 

the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). 

 

-  HB 721, which relates to reports on aquifer storage and recovery and aquifer recharge projects. 

The Committee will monitor the implementation by the TWDB of legislation to encourage the 

development of aquifer storage and recovery and aquifer recharge projects, including the 

completion of a statewide study of the state's aquifers' suitability for aquifer storage and 

recovery and aquifer recharge projects.  

 

-  HB 722, which relates to the development of brackish groundwater. The Committee is 

monitoring the designation of Brackish Groundwater Production Zones by the TWDB and the 

adoption of rules by groundwater conservation districts for the production of brackish 

groundwater from those Zones.  

 

- HB 807, which relates to the state and regional water planning process. The Committee will 

monitor the appointment of the Interregional Planning Council by the TWDB and the Council's 

progress toward increasing coordination among Regional Water Planning Groups. The 

Committee will also look at a joint planning process between Regional Water Planning Groups 

and Groundwater Management Areas and achieving desired future conditions for aquifers, 

topics on which TAGD will present a position.  

 



 
 

- The Committee is studying the efforts of the TCEQ, the TWDB, and the Public Utility Commission 

of Texas to incentivize, promote, and preserve regional projects to meet water supply needs and 

encourage public and private investment in water infrastructure and identifying impediments or 

threats to “regionalization”.  

 

- The Committee is also reviewing “An Audit Report on Selected Groundwater Conservation 

Districts” and is seeking written submissions on emerging issues in groundwater and surface 

water interaction and the status of water markets in Texas and the potential benefits of and 

challenges to “expanded markets for water”. 

 

 

Preparing for the Legislative Session 

 

There is much speculation about how the Legislature will conduct its business next year in the face of 

the pandemic. I’m guessing the final solution will not come until much closer to the start date, given the 

ever-charging status of outbreaks. In the meantime, I am monitoring committee activity on interim 

charges, trying to maintain contact with key staff members, and participating in all three TAGD 

legislative subcommittees. I am now planning to have an in-person meeting with a new legislative 

assistant for Senator Lois Kolkhorst, whose district includes Victoria and who is a very influential 

member of the Senate Water and Rural Affairs Committee. 

 

TAGD Water Summit 

 

The annual TAGD conference will be September 1st-3rd and will be totally virtual. There will be a 

legislative update by the Public Policy Analyst for the Texas Water Conservation Association, a legislative 

panel, and a keynote address by Chairman Larson. 

 

 

 

 

















The AG released an opinion that appointed board members are not elected officials and thus not 
required to take the cybersecurity training. The opinion is in the context of an appraisal district board, 
but the same rational applies to a GCD. It’s consistent with what we had concluded. 
 
From: Office of TX Attorney General <TXAttorneyGeneral@public.govdelivery.com>  
Sent: Monday, August 10, 2020 3:16 PM 
To: Bill Dugat <bdugat@bickerstaff.com> 
Subject: Notification of Opinion: KP-0326 
 

Re: Whether subsection 2054.5191(a-1) of the Government Code requires a member of the 
board of directors of an appraisal district to complete certified cybersecurity training 
(RQ-0332-KP) 

  

Email Titl e 

  
 

 

 

  

KP-0326 

Opinion: (KP-0326) 

Request for Opinion: ( RQ-0332-KP) 

 

A court would likely conclude that appraisal district board members are appointed and are not 
required to complete the certified cybersecurity training program it mandated by Government 
Code subsection 2054.5191(a-1). 

 

You are subscribed to Office of Texas Attorney General. This information has recently been 
updated, and is now available. 

  

  

  

mailto:TXAttorneyGeneral@public.govdelivery.com
mailto:bdugat@bickerstaff.com
https://lnks.gd/l/eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMDEsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMDA4MTAuMjU0OTUwODEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwczovL3d3dy50ZXhhc2F0dG9ybmV5Z2VuZXJhbC5nb3Yvb3BpbmlvbnMva2VuLXBheHRvbi9rcC0wMzI2P3V0bV9jb250ZW50PSZ1dG1fbWVkaXVtPWVtYWlsJnV0bV9uYW1lPSZ1dG1fc291cmNlPWdvdmRlbGl2ZXJ5JnV0bV90ZXJtPSJ9.CZjPjn7PFCxf_T-ZrP76NZlcPmRzHPnNGgCOn6QRAfA/s/557653121/br/82157294900-l
https://lnks.gd/l/eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMDIsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMDA4MTAuMjU0OTUwODEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwczovL3d3dy50ZXhhc2F0dG9ybmV5Z2VuZXJhbC5nb3Yvb3BpbmlvbnMva2VuLXBheHRvbi9rcC0wMzI2P3V0bV9jb250ZW50PSZ1dG1fbWVkaXVtPWVtYWlsJnV0bV9uYW1lPSZ1dG1fc291cmNlPWdvdmRlbGl2ZXJ5JnV0bV90ZXJtPSJ9.dU3mNTQkXkska97pjYQPm1NXN3n9VpCuspJw6pUTspI/s/557653121/br/82157294900-l
https://lnks.gd/l/eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMDMsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMDA4MTAuMjU0OTUwODEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwczovL3d3dzIudGV4YXNhdHRvcm5leWdlbmVyYWwuZ292L29waW5pb25zL29waW5pb25zLzUxcGF4dG9uL3JxLzIwMjAvcGRmL1JRMDMzMktQLnBkZj91dG1fY29udGVudD0mdXRtX21lZGl1bT1lbWFpbCZ1dG1fbmFtZT0mdXRtX3NvdXJjZT1nb3ZkZWxpdmVyeSZ1dG1fdGVybT0ifQ.GDhnWZaPaogg7bkhl-cxRjM2Q3a6Szqkl1vzsinjV-4/s/557653121/br/82157294900-l
https://lnks.gd/l/eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMDAsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMDA4MTAuMjU0OTUwODEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwOi8vd3d3Lmdvb2dsZS5jb20_dXRtX2NvbnRlbnQ9JnV0bV9tZWRpdW09ZW1haWwmdXRtX25hbWU9JnV0bV9zb3VyY2U9Z292ZGVsaXZlcnkmdXRtX3Rlcm09In0.gCQCDxo-YC2MSfs45se5NfkMjJmTodTOxRzBu4MXqtc/s/557653121/br/82157294900-l


 
 
 



Budgeted Begin Est  Cash Available for Op 10/1/2020 2,313,731     file found on Z: brush country budget 2021

budget actual 2019 budget Actual budget Certi values %

Income 2019 2020 thru June 2021 tax yr 2018 tax yr 2019 tax yr 2020 Change

1 Tax Rate @ $0.02070/$100

2 Jim Hogg Co. Tax  Levy 104,017 106,158 93,775 91,236 92,203 433,402,743 453,021,236 445,424,216 -1.7%

3 Jim Wells Co. Tax Levy 280,362 277,907 264,489 249,683 280,838 1,168,174,001 1,277,725,200 1,356,707,625 6.2%

4 Brooks Co. Tax Levy 103,092 106,494 91,975 83,075 91,975 429,548,206 444,324,354 444,324,354 0.0%

5 Hidalgo Co Tax Levy 455 455 512 512 570 1,897,636 2,475,181 2,752,308 1.1%

6 total tax levies 487,925 491,014 450,752 424,505 465,586 2,033,022,586 2,177,545,971 2,249,208,503 3.3%

7 Interest income from bank accts 23000 30,406 23,000 43,470 25,000 2,000 12,757

8 Delinquent Tax Collect 17800 incl in levy 17,800 incl in levy 17,800 0

9 Tax Penalty & interest 8910 incl in levy 8,910 incl in levy 8,910 0

10 District Fee Revenue 2000 5,352 2,000 0 2,000 0

11 Total Revenue 539,635 526,772 502,462 467,975 519,296 16,835

Expenses

12 Tax Appraisal Fees

13 Jim Hogg Co. 4,404 4,155 4,404 1,691 4,404 0

14 Jim Wells Co. 7,167 6,774 7,713 6,935 7,713 0

15 Brooks Co. 2,542 2,377 2,542 1,643 2,542 0

16 Hidalgo Co. 5 4 6 3 6 0

17 Total appraisal fees 14,118 13,310 14,665 10,271 14,665 0

18 Jim Hogg Co. 3,600 6,088.00 3,900 1,588 3,900 0

19 Jim Wells Co. 2,071 2,200 2,189 2,338 2,189 0

20 Brooks Co.& Hidalgo 6,805 6805 6,805 1,688 6,805 0

21 total collection fees 12,476 15,093 12,894 3,276 12,894 0

22 Total Collection & Appraisal fees 26,472 28,403 27,559 13,547 27,559 0

Salaries

23 General Manager 63345 63345 63345 43,854 30,000 -33,345

24 Staff Person 33915 33915 33915 23,480 35,610 1,695

25 Field Asst/GM Trainee Salary &  Benefits 100,000 24,231 60,000 41,538 63,000 3,000

26 Health Insurance 4,284 5,865 23,460 17,804 25,780 2,320

27 TCDRS Retirement &life Insurance 0 994 12,400 8,298 7,857 -4,543

Tx Municipal League Insurance

28 Ins. Dir Liability/Erorr-Omission/Emp Dishonesty 849 821 849 0 904 55

29 Ins Workmans Comp 360 368 570 0 578 8

30 Vehicle Insurance 615 615 605 0 561 -44

31 Director Bond 0 0 936 936 0 -936

32 building Insurance 1,833 1,833 2,065 0 2,050 -15

Payroll Taxes

33 payroll tax expense 7,786 9,294 9,750 8,329 8,396 -1,354

34 Suta Tax Exp 323 27 162 432 432 270

35 Legal notices 1,500 900 1,500 0 1,000 -500

36 phone & internet 2,160 2,522 2,160 1,302 1,740 -420

37 Wireless / Mobil 650 668 650 505 672 22

Computers Support Services

38 computer  & electronic Eqpt 4,000 4,047 4,000 2,520 3,000 -1,000

39 Web hosting and Homepage 2,400 4,899 3,200 1,974 3,200 0

40 Software 5,000 72 3,300 167 2,500 -800

42 Printer expenses 1,900 1,327 1,900 miscellaneous 0 -1,900

43 Dues & Subscriptions 2,000 1,421 1,200 1,388 1,388 188

Office Expenses

44 new office Electricity 5,600 2,686 4,800 2,601 4,800 0

45 water & sewer min bill $152/mon & garbage 1,788 1,768 1,824 1,377 1,860 36

46 building maintenance - janitorial 10,500 10,912 11,000 7,981 11,500 500

47 yard maintenance 3,000 1,800 4,200 1,700 3,600 -600

48 building repairs 0 1,542 1,500 67 1,500 0

50 Office Furniture 7,000 485 600 125 600 0

51 Offfice Supplies 3,500 2,579 3,500 1,308 2,600 -900

52 Postage & shipping expense 2,500 1,227 2,500 1,140 1,500 -1,000

 Professional Services

53 Legal Services/Bickerstaff 60,000 37,001 60,000 17,837 40,000 -20,000

54 Legislative Assistance/Howard - Gosselink 42,000 49,500 30,000 22,500 54,000 24,000

55 Engineering Services 30,900 2,500 30,900 11,049 30,900 0

56 Accounting Services & Audit 7,150 7,166 7,150 6,279 7,200 50

57 Water Quality Testing 2,500 1,125 750 375 750 0

58 Equipment Purchase 9,000 7,121 7,000 2,520 7,000 0

59 Aquifer Monitoring Eqp. & GMA Expenses 10,000 4,500 10,000 0 4,500 -5,500

60 Travel Exp & Training Cost

61 Meals & Lodging 2,000 2,339 4,000 1,254 3,000 -1,000

62 Conference Registration Fees 2,500 870 2,500 0 1,800 -700

63 Director Expense Reimburse 1,000 1,067 1,200 722 1,200 0

 Other Miscellaneous Services  & Expenses

64 Miscellaneous Expenses 5,102 780 10,000 1,402 5,000 -5,000

65 School Educational Material 550 795 790 350 790 0

 Vehicle Expenses

66 Auto,Gas & Oil 2,500 1,519 2,000 1,117 2,000 0

67 Auto & Truck Repairs 1,400 170 1,400 41 1,400 0

68 Total Operating Expenses 469,882 325,019 451,140 281,751 403,727

59 projected operating expenses through September 30, 2019 avg mon. exp

60 Net Revenue over Operating Expenses 14,693 96,721 51,322 186,224 115,569 $31,306

61 Capital Improvement  new office building 155,755 80,722 0

62  Well Plugging Program - Use   Plugging Reserve Fund Money25,000 25,000 25,000 4,500     =$406,973

63 Bank Accounts thru 9/30/19   6/30/2020

64 General Reserve  Fund   821,120 1,611,637.00

 Building Reserve Account balance 81,000 proj  balance

66 Well Plugging Program Reserve Fund  200,000 200,000.00 on 9/30/2020

67 tax account Sept, 2019  221,197 403,880.00

68 Bus acct  sept 30, 2019  66,241 37,212.00

69 Greater Texas Bank CD 0 252,302 0.00

FNBFAL CD 500,000 0.00 Projected total on 9/30/2020

70 total all accts 81,000 2,060,860 2,252,729.00 all accts

71   Cash Available  Operations on 9/30/19 2,060,860 2,138,482 2,313,731.00 2,313,731

75 *Total BCGCD Tax Levy for FY 2020 budget based on tax rate of $0.02070/$100 = $450,752

PG 13

avg int./qtr in 2020

61,002

Brush Country Groundwater Conservation District 2021 FY Budget  10/1/2020 - 9/30/2021 

avg exp* 4 month=$125,222

ann exp =125,222+281751

revenue - annual expenses




	1.  August 25 2020 Meeting Agenda
	2.  July 28 2020 Minutes Final
	5.  a.  Notes Kenedy County Meetings 8-19-2020
	5.  b. TWDB Prposed rulemaking on Brackish Water Developement Zones July 20 2020
	ACTION REQUESTED
	BACKGROUND
	KEY ISSUES
	RECOMMENDATION
	ATTACHMENT: Preamble for rulemaking
	ATTACHMENT: Fiscal Note for rulemaking
	ATTACHMENT: Proposed Rulemaking Memorandum

	5. f  Form 941 2nd Qtr 2020
	5. h  FedAppealsLandownersVsBVGCD For Bill Dugat
	6. Jose Ricardo Gonzalez Operating Permit Cancellation Request
	8.  Effective tax rate  calculation for 2020 BCGCD taxes Short Form
	8. BCGCD 2020 no new revenue rTE  50-856 completed AUG 2020 (002)
	8. BCGCD Notice of Meeting to Vote on 2021 BCGCD Tax Rate for 50-883 Aug 2020 publishing
	10.  Quarterly Investment Report FY 2020 3rd Quarter Aug 25, 2020
	11.  Financial Statement Summary for July 31, 2020
	12 - August 2020 Legislative Report Robert Howard
	13. a. TCEQ Permit Renewal App Alta Mesa LLC
	13. b. Barranca Wind Reinvestment Zone
	13. d. TCEQ San Diego MUD Permit Renewal
	Notification of Opinion KP-0326
	2021 Budget

	TaxingUnitName: BCGCD
	Phone: 
	Address: 
	Website: 
	Section1Line_1: 2188474024
	Section1Line_2: 0
	Section1Line_3: 2188474024
	Section1Line_4: 0.0207
	Section1Line_5a: 0
	Section1Line_5b: 0
	Section1Line_5c: 0
	Section1Line_6a: 0
	Section1Line_6b: 0
	Section1Line_6c: 0
	Section1Line_7: 0
	Section1Line_8: 2188474024
	Section1Line_9: 0
	Section1Line_10a: 799778
	Section1Line_10b: 2014064
	Section1Line_10c: 2813842
	Section1Line_11a: 3211923
	Section1Line_11b: 237455
	Section1Line_11c: 2974468
	Section1Line_12: 5788310
	Section1Line_13: 2182685714
	Section1Line_14: 451816
	Section1Line_15: 527
	Section1Line_16: 0
	Section1Line_17: 452343
	Section1Line_18a: 2246287152
	Section1Line_18b: 0
	Section1Line_18c: 0
	Section1Line_18d: 0
	Section1Line_18e: 2246287152
	Section1Line_19a: 11001246
	Section1Line_19b: 0
	Section1Line_19c: 11001246
	Section1Line_20: 0
	Section1Line_21: 2257288398
	Section1Line_22: 0
	Section1Line_23: 32199199
	Section1Line_24: 32199199
	Section1Line_25: 2225089199
	Section1Line_26: .020329
	Section1Line_27: .020329
	Section2Line_28: .0207
	Section2Line_29: 2188474028
	Section2Line_30: 453014
	Section2Line_31a: 
	Section2Line_31b: 527
	Section2Line_31c: 
	Section2Line_31d: 
	Section2Line_31e: 527
	Section2Line_31: 453541
	Section2Line_32: 2225089199
	Section2Line_33: 0.020329
	Section2Line_34a: 0
	Section2Line_34b: 0
	Section2Line_34c: 0
	Section2Line_34: 0
	Section2Line_35a: 0
	Section2Line_35b: 0
	Section2Line_35c: 0
	Section2Line_35: 0
	Section2Line_36a: 0
	Section2Line_36b: 0
	Section2Line_36c: 0
	Section2Line_36d: 0
	Section2Line_36: 0
	Section2Line_37a: 0
	Section2Line_37b: 0
	Section2Line_37c: 0
	Section2Line_37d: 0
	Section2Line_37: 0
	Section2Line_38: 0.020329
	Section2Line_39: .021955
	Section2Line_40a: 0
	Section2Line_40b: 0
	Section2Line_40c: 0
	Section2Line_40d: 0
	Section2Line_40e: 0
	Section2Line_41: 0
	Section2Line_42: 0
	Section2Line_43a: 92
	Section2Line_43b: 93.0
	Section2Line_43c: 93.33
	Section2Line_43d: 92.32
	Section2Line_43: 92.32
	Section2Line_44: 0
	Section2Line_45: 2188474024
	Section2Line_46: 0
	Section2Line_47: .021955
	Section2Line_48: .021955
	Section3Line_49: 0
	Section3Line_50: 0
	Section3Line_51: 2257288398
	Section3Line_52: 0
	Section3Line_53: .020329
	Section3Line_54: .020329
	Section3Line_55: .021955
	Section3Line_56: .021955
	Section4Line_57: 0
	Section4Line_58: 2257288398
	Section4Line_59: 0
	Section4Line_60: .021955
	Section5Line_61: 0
	Section5Line_62: 0
	Section5Line_63: 0
	Section5Line_64: 0
	Section5Line_65: .021955
	Section6Line_66: .02032
	Section6Line_67: 2257288398
	Section6Line_68: .021955
	Section6Line_69: 0
	Section6Line_70: .042284
	Section7LineA: .020329
	Section7LineB: .020329
	Section7LineC: .021955
	PrintedName: 
	Date: 
	TR1: 0.020329
	GB: BRUSH COUNTRY GCD
	PR: 0.020329
	NNR: 0.020329
	VAT: 0.021955
	PTY1: 2019
	CTY1: 2020
	NTY1: BRUSH COUNTRY GCD
	DT: SEPTEMBER 25, 2020
	MP1: BCGCD BUILDING LOCATED AT 732 WEST RICE FALFURRIAS, TX
	NGB1: BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	FP: 
	AP: 
	PNV: 
	Absent: 
	Email1: 
	INT: Brushcountrygcd.com
	TP1: 361 325 5093
	Email2: generalmanager@brushcountrygcd.com
	untitled1: 0.020700
	untitled2: 0.020329
	untitled3: 81,391
	untitled4: 79,208
	untitled5: 1,639.60
	untitled6: 1,895.55
	untitled7: 453,541
	untitled8: 458,884
	untitled9: -1.79%
	untitled10: 2.75%
	untitled11: 1.17%
	untitled12: 15.6%


